

# **INSTITUTE OF MATHEMATICS**

# Inviscid incompressible limit for compressible micro-polar fluids

Matteo Caggio

Preprint No. 51-2021 PRAHA 2021

# Inviscid incompressible limit for compressible micro-polar fluids

# Matteo Caggio

Department of Mathematics, Faculty of Science, University of Zagreb matteo.caggio@math.hr

#### Abstract

In this paper we study the incompressible inviscid limit for a compressible micro-polar model. We prove that the weak solution of the compressible micro-polar system converges to the solution of the Navier-Stokes equations (Euler equations) in the limit of small Mach number (and vanishing viscosity).

**Key words**: compressible micro-polar fluids, low Mach number limit, vanishing viscosity

# Contents

1	Inti	roduction	3
	1.1	Weak solution to the compressible system	6
	1.2	Weak and strong solution to the incompressible system	8
	1.3	Main results	9
<b>2</b>	$\mathbf{Pre}$	liminaries	11
	2.1	Estimates	11
	2.2	A priori bounds	11
3	Acc	oustic waves	13
	3.1	Acoustic system	13
	3.2	Initial data	14
	3.3	Energy and decay estimates	14
		3.3.1 Inhomogeneous case	15
		3.3.2 Regularization	16

4	Wea	ak-weak limit	16
	4.1	Compactness of the solenoidal component	17
	4.2	Compactness of the gradient component	18
	4.3	The weak-weak limit convergence	21
5	Wea	ak-strong limit	22
	5.1	Relative energy inequality	22
	5.2	The incompressible inviscid limit	24
		5.2.1 Initial data	
		5.2.2 The dissipative terms	26
		5.2.3 The micro-polar convective term	26
	5.3	Proof of Theorem 10	
$\mathbf{A}$	App	pendix	28
	A.1	The convective terms	28
	A 2	The pressure terms	31

# 1 Introduction

We consider the compressible Navier-Stokes system describing the motion of a barotropic micro-polar fluid in the whole space  $\mathbb{R}^3$ 

$$\partial_t \rho_\varepsilon + \operatorname{div}(\rho_\varepsilon \mathbf{u}_\varepsilon) = 0, \tag{1.1}$$

$$\partial_t(\varrho_{\varepsilon}\mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon}) + \operatorname{div}(\varrho_{\varepsilon}\mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon} \otimes \mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon}) + \nabla p(\varrho_{\varepsilon}) = \operatorname{div}\mathbb{S}(\nabla \mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon}) + 2(\xi \nabla \times \boldsymbol{\omega}_{\varepsilon}), \quad (1.2)$$

$$\mathbb{I}\left[\partial_t(\varrho_{\varepsilon}\boldsymbol{\omega}_{\varepsilon}) + \operatorname{div}(\varrho\mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon}\otimes\boldsymbol{\omega}_{\varepsilon})\right] = \operatorname{div}\mathbb{M}(\nabla\boldsymbol{\omega}_{\varepsilon}) + 2(\xi\nabla\times\mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon} - 2\xi\boldsymbol{\omega}_{\varepsilon}). \tag{1.3}$$

Here,  $\varrho_{\varepsilon} = \varrho_{\varepsilon}(x,t)$ ,  $\mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon} = \mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon}(x,t)$ ,  $\boldsymbol{\omega}_{\varepsilon} = \boldsymbol{\omega}_{\varepsilon}(x,t)$  and  $p = p(\varrho_{\varepsilon})$  denote the density, velocity, micro-rotational (angular) velocity and pressure of the fluid, respectively. The quantity  $\mathbb{I}$  represents the micro-inertia coefficient and the viscous stress tensors read as

$$S(\nabla \mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon}) = (\mu + \xi)\nabla \mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon} + (\mu + \lambda - \xi)\operatorname{div}\mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon}, \tag{1.4}$$

$$\mathbb{M}(\nabla \omega_{\varepsilon}) = \mu' \nabla \omega_{\varepsilon} + (\mu' + \lambda') \operatorname{div} \omega_{\varepsilon}, \tag{1.5}$$

with coefficients of viscosity  $\mu, \lambda$  and of micro-viscosity  $\mu', \lambda', \xi$  satisfying

$$\mu, \mu', \xi > 0, \quad 2\mu + 3\lambda \ge 0, \quad 2\mu' + 3\lambda' \ge 0.$$
 (1.6)

Since the works in [14] and [31], the compressible micro-polar system has recently received a considerable attention in terms of mathematical analysis. In one-dimension, the compressible, viscous and heat-conducting micropolar system was analyzed in [32]. The global existence of weak solutions in three-dimension with discontinuous initial data was studied in [8] and, more recently, the existence of dissipative measure-valued solutions was proved in [24] together with a weak-strong uniqueness principle. Existence and large time behavior of strong solutions in three-dimension was concerned by [30]. For further results on weak and strong solutions to the micropolar system we also refer to [1], [6], [7] [11], [12], [13], [20], [25], [40], [41] and references therein. In particular, in the context of singular limit analysis, recent results are given in [35], [36], [37].

For the purpose of our analysis, we rewrite the above system in nondimensional form, namely for each physical quantity X present in the Navier-Stokes equations, we introduce its reference value  $X_{ref}$  and replace X with its dimensionless analogue  $X/X_{ref}$ . Consequently, the system (1.1) - (1.3) reads as follows

$$Sr\partial_t \varrho_\varepsilon + \operatorname{div}(\varrho_\varepsilon \mathbf{u}_\varepsilon) = 0,$$
 (1.7)

$$Sr\partial_t(\varrho_{\varepsilon}\mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon}) + \operatorname{div}(\varrho_{\varepsilon}\mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon} \otimes \mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon}) + \frac{\nabla p(\varrho_{\varepsilon})}{\mathcal{M}a^2} = \frac{1}{\mathcal{R}e}\operatorname{divS}(\nabla\mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon}) + 2\frac{1}{\mathcal{R}e}(\xi\nabla\times\boldsymbol{\omega}_{\varepsilon}),$$
(1.8)

$$\partial_t(\varrho_{\varepsilon}\boldsymbol{\omega}_{\varepsilon}) + \operatorname{div}(\varrho \mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon} \otimes \boldsymbol{\omega}_{\varepsilon}) = \frac{\mathcal{R}e_M}{\mathcal{R}e} \operatorname{div} \mathbb{M}(\nabla \boldsymbol{\omega}_{\varepsilon}) + 2\frac{1}{\mathcal{R}e} (\xi \nabla \times \mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon} - 2\xi \boldsymbol{\omega}_{\varepsilon}). \tag{1.9}$$

Here,  $\mathcal{M}a$  is the Mach number and  $\mathcal{R}e$  is the Reynolds number defined as follows

$$\mathcal{M}a = u_{ref}/\sqrt{p_{ref}/\varrho_{ref}}, \quad \mathcal{R}e = \varrho_{ref}u_{ref}L_{ref}/\mu_{ref},$$

while

$$Sr = \frac{L_{ref}}{t_{ref}u_{ref}}$$

is the Strouhal number. We also introduce

$$\mathcal{R}e_M = \mu'_{ref}/\mu_{ref}L_{ref}^2$$
.

The Mach number is the ratio of the characteristic velocity of the flow to the speed of the sound in the fluid while the Reynolds number is the ratio of the inertial to the viscous forces in the fluid. The Strouhal number plays a role in oscillating, non-steady flows, as the Kármán vortex street (see e.g. [39]), where  $1/t_{ref}$  is the frequency of vortex shedding in the wake of von Kármań (the characteristic length  $L_{ref}$  could refers to a body invested by the flow with characteristic velocity  $u_{ref}$ ). Here and hereafter, the Strouhal number is set equal to one and we keep  $\mathcal{R}e_M$  fixed and positive. For more details about the scaling procedure, the reader is referred to [16], Chapter 4.

Remark 1. Note that in performing the scaling analysis we considered  $\mu_{ref}$  as the reference viscosity for  $\mu$ ,  $\lambda$  and  $\xi$ , and  $\mu'_{ref}$  for  $\mu'$  and  $\lambda'$ . Here,  $\omega_{ref} = 1/t_{ref}$  and  $\mathbb{I}_{ref} = L^2_{ref}$ . For the definition of  $\mathcal{R}e_M$  see e.g. [3] and the references therein.

For simplicity of the notation, we set  $\mathcal{M}a = \varepsilon$  and  $\mathcal{R}e = \nu^{-1}$ . We assume that the pressure is given by the following relation

$$p(\varrho_{\varepsilon}) = a\varrho_{\varepsilon}^{\gamma}, \quad a > 0, \quad \gamma > 3/2.$$
 (1.10)

The system is supplemented with the initial condition

$$\varrho_{\varepsilon}(0,\cdot) = \varrho_{0,\varepsilon} = 1 + \varepsilon \varrho_{0,\varepsilon}^{(1)}, \quad \mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon}(0,\cdot) = \mathbf{u}_{0,\varepsilon}, \quad \boldsymbol{\omega}_{\varepsilon}(0,\cdot) = \boldsymbol{\omega}_{0,\varepsilon}$$
 (1.11)

and the far field conditions

$$\varrho_{\varepsilon} \to 1$$
,  $\mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon} \to 0$ ,  $\boldsymbol{\omega}_{\varepsilon} \to 0$  as  $|x| \to \infty$ . (1.12)

Remark 2. The initial condition  $(1.11)_1$  can be seen as a perturbation of the density field respect to the constant (equilibrium) density as first order expansion in terms of the Mach number (see [16], Chapter 4). The role of the quantity  $\varrho_{0,\varepsilon}^{(1)}$  will be clear later when we introduce the acoustic system related to the compressible Navier-Stokes equations (see Section 3).

Our aim is to identify the system of equations in the limit of  $\varepsilon \to 0$  and in the limit  $\varepsilon, \nu \to 0$ , respectively. More precisely, in the first case our goal is to prove the convergence of the weak solution of the compressible micro-polar system to the weak solution of the incompressible Navier-Stokes equation for micro-polar fluids, namely

$$\operatorname{div}\mathbf{v} = 0,\tag{1.13}$$

$$\partial_t \mathbf{v} + \mathbf{v} \cdot \nabla \mathbf{v} + \nabla \Pi - \frac{1}{\mathcal{R}e} \text{div} \mathbb{S}(\nabla \mathbf{v}) - 2 \frac{1}{\mathcal{R}e} \xi \nabla \times \boldsymbol{\omega} = 0,$$
 (1.14)

$$\partial_t \boldsymbol{\omega} + \mathbf{v} \cdot \nabla \boldsymbol{\omega} - \frac{\mathcal{R}e_M}{\mathcal{R}e} \text{div} \mathbb{S}(\nabla \boldsymbol{\omega}) + 2 \frac{1}{\mathcal{R}e} (2\xi \boldsymbol{\omega} - \xi \nabla \times \mathbf{v}) = 0.$$
 (1.15)

The idea is to obtain suitable a priori estimates in order to pass to the limit in the weak formulation for  $\varepsilon \to 0$ . The main difficulty is to handle the convective term in the momentum equations. Namely to show that  $\varrho_{\varepsilon} \mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon} \otimes \mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon} \to \mathbf{v} \otimes \mathbf{v}$  in a weak limit. This could be obtained through the analysis of the acoustic equations. The convergence is meant in the sense of the so-called *ill-prepared* initial data, namely data that allow the propagation of acoustic waves (see [16]). The energy and Strichartz estimates (dispersive estimates) discussed below allow the dispersion of the acoustic waves in the limit  $\varepsilon \to 0$ . The analysis is inspired by the recent work [4].

In the second case we aim to prove the convergence of the weak solution of the compressible micro-polar system to the strong solution of the incompressible Euler equation for micro-polar fluids, namely

$$\operatorname{div}\mathbf{v} = 0,\tag{1.16}$$

$$\partial_t \mathbf{v} + \mathbf{v} \cdot \nabla \mathbf{v} + \nabla \Pi = 0, \tag{1.17}$$

$$\partial_t \boldsymbol{\omega} + \mathbf{v} \cdot \nabla \boldsymbol{\omega} = 0. \tag{1.18}$$

The convergence is obtained from a Gronwall type argument introducing a relative energy inequality (see e.g. [9], [16], [22], [33]). Acoustic waves are dispersed through the energy and Strichartz estimates discussed below.

In the last years, the study of the low Mach number and/or inviscid regime for compressible fluids has been of large interest for many authors (see [23] and references therein). However, in the context of micro-polar compressible fluids very few results are present (see [35], [36], [37]). Indeed, as far as the author is aware, the weak-weak convergence in the low Mach number limit for the compressible (barotropic) micro-polar fluid in the whole space with ill-prepared initial data has not been analyzed before. Concerning the weak-strong convergence, the limit was already studied by [35]. However, the author in [35] obtains the convergence under some conditions satisfied in two ranges of the adiabatic coefficient  $\gamma$ , namely  $3/2 < \gamma < 4$  and  $\gamma \ge 4$  (see Theorem 2.3 in [35]). In the present result, we remove these conditions and generalize the result for  $\gamma > 3/2$ . We combine the recent analysis done in [24], in which the author proves the existence of dissipative measure-valued solution to a compressible micro-polar system together with a weak-strong uniqueness principle, with the analysis in [4] and [5] in order to treat, on one side, the dispersion of the acoustic waves, and, on the other side, the micro-polar coupling.

#### 1.1 Weak solution to the compressible system

**Definition 3.** We say that  $(\varrho_{\varepsilon}, \mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon}, \boldsymbol{\omega}_{\varepsilon})$  is a weak solution to the compressible micro-polar Navier-Stokes system (1.1) - (1.12) if

• the functions  $(\varrho_{\varepsilon}, \mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon}, \boldsymbol{\omega}_{\varepsilon})$  belongs to the class

$$\varrho_{\varepsilon} - 1 \in L^{\infty}(0, T; L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{3}) + L^{\gamma}(\mathbb{R}^{3})), \quad \varrho_{\varepsilon} \geq 0 \text{ a.a in } (0, T) \times \mathbb{R}^{3}, \quad (1.19)$$

$$\mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon} \in L^{2}(0, T; D_{0}^{1,2}(\mathbb{R}^{3}; \mathbb{R}^{3})), \quad \varrho_{\varepsilon} \mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon} \in L^{\infty}(0, T; (L^{2} + L^{\frac{2\gamma}{\gamma+1}})(\mathbb{R}^{3}; \mathbb{R}^{3})), \quad (1.20)$$

$$\boldsymbol{\omega}_{\varepsilon} \in L^2(0,T; D_0^{1,2}(\mathbb{R}^3; \mathbb{R}^3)), \ \varrho_{\varepsilon} \boldsymbol{\omega}_{\varepsilon} \in L^{\infty}(0,T; (L^2 + L^{\frac{2\gamma}{\gamma+1}})(\mathbb{R}^3; \mathbb{R}^3)).$$
 (1.21)

•  $\varrho_{\varepsilon} - 1 \in C_{weak}([0,T]; L^2(\mathbb{R}^3) + L^{\gamma}(\mathbb{R}^3))$  and the integral identity

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \varrho_{\varepsilon}(\tau, x) \varphi(\tau, x) dx - \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \varrho_{0, \varepsilon} \varphi(0, x) dx = \int_0^T \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \left( \varrho_{\varepsilon} \partial_t \varphi + \varrho_{\varepsilon} \mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon} \cdot \nabla \varphi \right) dx dt$$
(1.22)

holds for all  $\tau \in [0,T]$  and any test function  $\varphi \in C_c^{\infty}([0,T] \times \mathbb{R}^3$ .

• 
$$\varrho_{\varepsilon}\mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon} \in C_{weak}\left([0,T]; (L^{2} + L^{\frac{2\gamma}{\gamma+1}})(\mathbb{R}^{3}; \mathbb{R}^{3})\right)$$
 and the integral identity
$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \varrho_{\varepsilon}\mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon}(\tau,x) \cdot \varphi(\tau,x) dx - \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \varrho_{0,\varepsilon}\mathbf{u}_{0,\varepsilon} \cdot \varphi(0,x) dx$$

$$= \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \left(\varrho_{\varepsilon}\mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon} \cdot \partial_{t}\varphi + \varrho_{\varepsilon}\mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon} \otimes \mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon} : \nabla\varphi + \frac{p(\varrho_{\varepsilon})}{\varepsilon^{2}} \operatorname{div}\varphi\right) dx dt$$

$$-\nu \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \left((\mu + \xi)\nabla\mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon} : \nabla\varphi + (\mu + \lambda - \xi)\operatorname{div}\mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon}\operatorname{div}\varphi\right) dx dt$$

$$+\nu \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} 2\xi(\nabla \times \boldsymbol{\omega}_{\varepsilon}) \cdot \varphi dx dt \qquad (1.23)$$

holds for all  $\tau \in [0,T]$  and any test function  $\varphi \in C_c^{\infty}([0,T] \times \mathbb{R}^3; \mathbb{R}^3)$ .

• 
$$\varrho_{\varepsilon}\omega_{\varepsilon} \in C_{weak}\left([0,T]; (L^{2} + L^{\frac{2\gamma}{\gamma+1}})(\mathbb{R}^{3}; \mathbb{R}^{3})\right)$$
 and the integral identity
$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \varrho_{\varepsilon}\omega_{\varepsilon}(\tau,x) \cdot \varphi(\tau,x) dx - \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \varrho_{0,\varepsilon}\omega_{0,\varepsilon} \cdot \varphi(0,x) dx$$

$$= \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} (\varrho_{\varepsilon}\omega_{\varepsilon} \cdot \partial_{t}\varphi + \varrho_{\varepsilon}\omega_{\varepsilon} \otimes \mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon} : \nabla\varphi) dx dt$$

$$-\nu \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} (\mu'\nabla\omega_{\varepsilon} : \nabla\varphi + (\mu' + \lambda') \mathrm{div}\omega_{\varepsilon} \mathrm{div}\varphi) dx dt$$

$$+\nu \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} 2\xi(\nabla \times \mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon} - 2\omega_{\varepsilon}) \cdot \varphi dx dt \qquad (1.24)$$

holds for all  $\tau \in [0,T]$  and any test function  $\varphi \in C_c^{\infty}([0,T] \times \mathbb{R}^3; \mathbb{R}^3)$ .

• The energy inequality

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \left( \frac{1}{2} \varrho_{\varepsilon} |\mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon}|^{2} + \frac{1}{2} \varrho_{\varepsilon} |\boldsymbol{\omega}_{\varepsilon}|^{2} + \frac{P(\varrho_{\varepsilon}, 1)}{\varepsilon^{2}} \right) (\tau, x) dx$$

$$+ \nu \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \left( \mu |\nabla \mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon}|^{2} + (\mu + \lambda) |\operatorname{div}\mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon}|^{2} + \mu' |\nabla \boldsymbol{\omega}_{\varepsilon}|^{2} + (\mu' + \lambda') |\operatorname{div}\boldsymbol{\omega}_{\varepsilon}|^{2} + \xi |2\boldsymbol{\omega}_{\varepsilon} - \nabla \times \mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon}|^{2} \right) dx dt$$

$$\leq \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \left( \frac{1}{2} \varrho_{0,\varepsilon} |\mathbf{u}_{0,\varepsilon}|^{2} + \frac{1}{2} \varrho_{0,\varepsilon} |\boldsymbol{\omega}_{0,\varepsilon}|^{2} + \frac{P(\varrho_{0,\varepsilon}, 1)}{\varepsilon^{2}} \right) dx \qquad (1.25)$$

holds for a.a  $\tau \in [0, T]$ , where

$$P(\varrho_{\varepsilon}, 1) = H(\varrho_{\varepsilon}) - H'(1)(\varrho_{\varepsilon} - 1) - H(1),$$

with

$$H(\varrho_{\varepsilon}) = \varrho_{\varepsilon} \int_{1}^{\varrho_{\varepsilon}} \frac{p(z)}{z^{2}} dz.$$

Remark 4. Here, the space  $D_0^{1,2}(\mathbb{R}^3)$  is a completion of  $\mathcal{D}(\mathbb{R}^3)$  – the space of smooth functions compactly supported in  $\mathbb{R}^3$  – with respect to the norm

$$||f||_{D_0^{1,2}(\mathbb{R}^3)}^2 = \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} |\nabla f|^2 dx.$$

In accordance with the Sobolev's inequality, we have

$$D_0^{1,2}(\mathbb{R}^3) \subset L^6(\mathbb{R}^3),$$
 (1.26)

see [21].

The following result concerns the existence of a global weak solution to the compressible micro-polar system (1.1) - (1.3) (see [35], Proposition 2.2; see also [1]).

**Proposition 1.** Let  $\gamma > 3/2$  and the initial data  $(\varrho_{0,\varepsilon}, \mathbf{u}_{0,\varepsilon}, \boldsymbol{\omega}_{0,\varepsilon})$  satisfy

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \left( \frac{1}{2} \varrho_{0,\varepsilon} |\mathbf{u}_{0,\varepsilon}|^2 + \frac{1}{2} \varrho_{0,\varepsilon} |\boldsymbol{\omega}_{0,\varepsilon}|^2 + \frac{P(\varrho_{0,\varepsilon}, 1)}{\varepsilon^2} \right) \le C \tag{1.27}$$

such that

$$\varrho_{0,\varepsilon}\mathbf{u}_{0,\varepsilon}(x) = 0, \quad \varrho_{0,\varepsilon}\boldsymbol{\omega}_{0,\varepsilon}(x) = 0, \quad whenever \quad x \in \{\varrho_{0,\varepsilon} = 0\}.$$
 (1.28)

Then, there exists at least one weak solution to the Navier-Stokes system (1.1) - (1.3) in the sense of Definition 3.

# 1.2 Weak and strong solution to the incompressible system

We recall the global existence of weak solution for the Navier-Stokes system (1.13) - (1.15), and the local existence of strong solution to the incompressible inviscid system (1.16) - (1.18).

**Theorem 5.** [[31] Chapter 3, Theorem 1.1.6] Assume the initial data  $\mathbf{v}_0 \in W^{1,2}(\mathbb{R}^3; \mathbb{R}^3)$ ,  $div\mathbf{v}_0 = 0$ , and  $\boldsymbol{\omega}_0 \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^3; \mathbb{R}^3)$ . Then, there exist  $(\mathbf{v}, \boldsymbol{\omega}, p)$ 

$$\mathbf{v} \in L^{\infty}(0, T; H(\mathbb{R}^3; \mathbb{R}^3)) \cap L^2(0, T; V(\mathbb{R}^3; \mathbb{R}^3)),$$

$$\boldsymbol{\omega} \in L^{\infty}(0, T; L^2(\mathbb{R}^3; \mathbb{R}^3)) \cap L^2(0, T; D_0^1(\mathbb{R}^3; \mathbb{R}^3)),$$

$$p \in \mathcal{D}'(\mathbb{R}^3 \times (0, T))$$

$$(1.29)$$

satisfying (1.13) - (1.15) in the sense of distribution and initial data weakly in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^3)$ .

Remark 6. Above, (H, V) denote the closure of  $\{f \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^3; \mathbb{R}^3); \operatorname{div} f = 0\}$  in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^3)$  and  $D_0^1(\mathbb{R}^3)$ .

**Theorem 7.** [[35], Proposition 2.1] Let s > 5/2. Assume the initial data  $\mathbf{v}_0, \boldsymbol{\omega}_0 \in W^{s,2}(\mathbb{R}^3; \mathbb{R}^3)$  and  $div\mathbf{v}_0 = 0$ . Then, there exists  $T^* \in (0, \infty)$  and a unique solution  $(\mathbf{v}, \boldsymbol{\omega}) \in L^{\infty}(0, T^*; W^{s,2}(\mathbb{R}^3; \mathbb{R}^3))$  to the system (1.16) - (1.18) such that

$$\sup_{0 \le t \le T} \{ \|(\mathbf{v}, \boldsymbol{\omega})(t, \cdot)\|_{W^{s,2}(\mathbb{R}^3; \mathbb{R}^3)} + \|(\partial_t \mathbf{v}, \partial_t \boldsymbol{\omega})(t, \cdot)\|_{W^{s-1,2}(\mathbb{R}^3; \mathbb{R}^3)} \} \le C_T \quad (1.30)$$

for any  $0 < T < T^*$ .

Remark 8. Because the system (1.16) - (1.18) is decoupled, the classical results on the incompressible Euler equations (see e.g. [26]) and on the transport equation gives the estimate (1.30) (see [35]).

#### 1.3 Main results

Our main results can be stated as follows:

**Theorem 9.** Let  $(\varrho_{\varepsilon}, \mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon}, \boldsymbol{\omega}_{\varepsilon})$  be the weak solution to the compressible Navier-Stokes system (1.1)-(1.3) with the initial data

$$(\mathbf{u}_{0,\varepsilon},\boldsymbol{\omega}_{0,\varepsilon})$$
 bounded in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^3;\mathbb{R}^3)$ ,  $\varrho_{0,\varepsilon}^{(1)}$  bounded in  $(L^2 \cap L^\infty)(\mathbb{R}^3)$  (1.31)

uniformly for  $\varepsilon$  such that

$$\varrho_{0,\varepsilon}\mathbf{u}_{0,\varepsilon} \to \mathbf{v}_0, \quad \varrho_{0,\varepsilon}\boldsymbol{\omega}_{0,\varepsilon} \to \boldsymbol{\omega}_0 \text{ in } L^2(\mathbb{R}^3;\mathbb{R}^3)$$
 (1.32)

as  $\varepsilon \to 0$ . Then

$$\varrho_{\varepsilon} \to 1 \text{ in } L^{\infty}(0,T;(L^2+L^{\gamma})(\mathbb{R}^3), \ \mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon} \to \mathbf{v} \text{ weakly in } L^2(0,T;W_0^{1,2}(\mathbb{R}^3;\mathbb{R}^3)),$$

$$\tag{1.33}$$

$$\boldsymbol{\omega}_{\varepsilon} \to \boldsymbol{\omega} \text{ weakly in } L^2(0, T; W_0^{1,2}(\mathbb{R}^3; \mathbb{R}^3))$$
 (1.34)

and

$$\mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon} \to \mathbf{v} \text{ in } L^2(0, T; L^2_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^3; \mathbb{R}^3)),$$
 (1.35)

for any T > 0, where  $(\mathbf{v}, \boldsymbol{\omega})$  is the weak solution to the initial value problem (1.13)-(1.15).

**Theorem 10.** Assume there exist  $\varrho_0^{(1)} \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^3)$  and  $(\mathbf{u}_0, \boldsymbol{\omega}_0) \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^3; \mathbb{R}^3)$  such that

$$\left(\varrho_{0,\varepsilon}^{(1)} - \varrho_0^{(1)}\right), \quad (\mathbf{u}_{0,\varepsilon} - \mathbf{u}_0), \quad (\boldsymbol{\omega}_{0,\varepsilon} - \boldsymbol{\omega}_0) \to 0 \text{ in } L^2(\mathbb{R}^3)$$
 (1.36)

and  $(\mathbf{v}_0 = \mathbf{H}(\mathbf{u}_0), \boldsymbol{\omega}_0) \in W^{s,2}(\mathbb{R}^3; \mathbb{R}^3)$  (s>5/2), such that  $supp[\mathbf{v}_0]$  and  $supp[\boldsymbol{\omega}_0]$  compact in  $\mathbb{R}^3$ ,  $\nabla \Psi_0 = \mathbf{H}^{\perp}(\mathbf{u}_0) \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^3; \mathbb{R}^3)$ . Let  $(\mathbf{v}, \boldsymbol{\omega})$  be the unique solution to the initial value problem (1.16)-(1.18) and  $(\varrho_{\varepsilon}, \mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon}, \boldsymbol{\omega}_{\varepsilon})$  be the weak solution to the compressible Navier-Stokes system (1.1)-(1.3). Then, as  $\varepsilon, \nu \to 0$ ,

$$\varrho_{\varepsilon} \to 1 \text{ in } L^{\infty}(0, T; (L^{2} + L^{\gamma})(\mathbb{R}^{3})), \quad \sqrt{\varrho_{\varepsilon}} \mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon} \to \mathbf{v} \text{ in } L^{2}(0, T; L^{2}_{loc}(K; \mathbb{R}^{3})),$$

$$(1.37)$$

$$\sqrt{\varrho_{\varepsilon}} \boldsymbol{\omega}_{\varepsilon} \to \boldsymbol{\omega} \text{ in } L^{2}(0, T; L^{2}_{loc}(K; \mathbb{R}^{3}))$$

$$(1.38)$$

for any T > 0 and any compact set  $K \subset \mathbb{R}^3$ .

Remark 11. Here, the symbol **H** and  $\mathbf{H}^{\perp}$  denote the Helmoholtz projection onto the space of solenoidal functions and the corresponding gradient part, in the sense that a vector function  $\mathbf{f}: \Omega \to \mathbb{R}^3$  is written as

$$\mathbf{f} = \underbrace{\mathbf{H}[\mathbf{f}]}_{\text{solenoidal part}} + \underbrace{\mathbf{H}^{\perp}[\mathbf{f}]}_{\text{gradient part}}.$$
 (1.39)

For more details we refer the reader to [16], Section 5.4.1.

Corollary 12. Indeed, the exact convergence rate holds

$$\|\sqrt{\varrho_{\varepsilon}}\left(\mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon}-\mathbf{v}-\nabla\Psi_{\varepsilon}\right)(\tau,\cdot)\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{3};\mathbb{R}^{3})}^{2}+\|\sqrt{\varrho_{\varepsilon}}\left(\boldsymbol{\omega}_{\varepsilon}-\boldsymbol{\omega}\right)(\tau,\cdot)\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{3};\mathbb{R}^{3})}^{2}$$

$$+\left\|\frac{\varrho-1}{\varepsilon}(\tau,\cdot)-\psi(\tau,\cdot)\right\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{3})}^{2}+\left\|\frac{\varrho-1}{\varepsilon^{2/\gamma}}(\tau,\cdot)-\frac{\psi(\tau,\cdot)}{\varepsilon^{(2/\gamma)-1}}\right\|_{L^{\gamma}(\mathbb{R}^{3})}^{\gamma}$$

$$\leq c\left(\|\mathbf{u}_{0,\varepsilon}-\mathbf{u}_{0}\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{3};\mathbb{R}^{3})}^{2}+\left\|\varrho_{0,\varepsilon}^{(1)}-\varrho_{0}^{(1)}\right\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{3})}^{2}+\|\boldsymbol{\omega}_{0,\varepsilon}-\boldsymbol{\omega}_{0}\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{3};\mathbb{R}^{3})}^{2}\right),$$

$$(1.40)$$

$$for\ \tau\in[0,T].$$

The paper is organized as follows. In Section 2, we introduce the uniform bounds necessary for our analysis. In Section 3, we discuss the acoustic system related to the Navier-Stokes equations. In Section 4, we prove the convergence of the weak solution of the compressible Navier-Stokes system to the weak solution of the incompressible system in the limit of the Mach number that tends to zero. In Section 5, through the use of the relative energy inequality, we prove the convergence of the weak solution of the compressible Navier-Stokes system to the classical solution of the Euler equations.

# 2 Preliminaries

In the following we introduce some preliminaries estimates useful for our analysis and we discuss the a priori bounds.

#### 2.1 Estimates

Let us introduce a regularizing kernel  $\chi \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^3)$ ,  $\chi \geq 0$  and  $\int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \chi dx = 1$ . We define  $\chi_{\eta} = \eta^{-3}\chi(x/\eta)$ . In the present analysis, we will use the following estimates (see [10], relations (2.1) and (2.2)). For  $f \in D^1(\mathbb{R}^3)$ , we have

$$||f - f * \chi_{\eta}||_{L^{q}(\mathbb{R}^{3})} \le c(q)\eta^{1-\sigma}||\nabla f||_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{3})}, \quad q \in [2, 6], \quad \beta = 3\left(\frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{q}\right). \quad (2.1)$$

Moreover, for  $1 < p_2 < p_1 < +\infty$ ,  $s \ge 0$  and  $\eta \in (0, 1)$ , we have

$$||f * \chi_{\eta}||_{L^{p_1}(\mathbb{R}^3)} \le c\eta^{-s - 3(1/p_2 - 1/p_1)} ||f||_{W^{-s, p_2}(\mathbb{R}^3)}. \tag{2.2}$$

# 2.2 A priori bounds

From the energy inequality, we have

$$\sqrt{\varrho_{\varepsilon}}\mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon}$$
,  $\sqrt{\varrho_{\varepsilon}}\boldsymbol{\omega}_{\varepsilon}$  uniformly bounded in  $L^{\infty}\left(0,T;L^{2}\left(\mathbb{R}^{3};\mathbb{R}^{3}\right)\right)$ , (2.3)

$$\nabla \mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon}$$
,  $\nabla \boldsymbol{\omega}_{\varepsilon}$  uniformly bounded in  $L^{2}\left(0,T;L^{2}\left(\mathbb{R}^{3};\mathbb{R}^{3}\right)\right)$ . (2.4)

Moreover, we observe that the map  $\varrho \to P(\varrho, 1)$  is a strictly convex function on  $(0, \infty)$  with global minimum equal to 0 at  $\varrho = 1$  that grows at infinity with the rate  $\varrho^{\gamma}$ . Consequently, the integral  $\int_{\mathbb{R}^3} P(\varrho, 1)(\tau, \cdot) dx$  in (1.25) provides a control of  $(\varrho - 1)(\tau, \cdot)$  in  $L^2$  over the sets  $\{x : |\varrho - 1|(\tau, x) < \frac{1}{2}\}$  and in  $L^{\gamma}$  over the sets  $\{x : |\varrho - 1|(\tau, x) \geq \frac{1}{2}\}$ . Consequently, there holds

$$P(\varrho, r) \approx |\varrho - 1|^2 \, \mathbf{1}_{\{|\varrho - r| < \frac{1}{2}\}} + |\varrho - r|^{\gamma} \, \mathbf{1}_{\{|\varrho - 1| \ge \frac{1}{2}\}}, \quad \forall \varrho \ge 0,$$
 (2.5)

in the sense that  $P(\varrho, 1)$  gives an upper and lower bound in term of the right-hand side quantity (see [2], [35]). Therefore, we have the following uniform bounds

ess 
$$\sup_{\tau \in [0,T]} \left\| \left[ (\varrho - 1) (\tau, \cdot) \right] 1_{\{|\varrho - 1| < \frac{1}{2}\}} \right\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{3})} \le C\varepsilon,$$
 (2.6)

$$\operatorname{ess} \sup_{\tau \in [0,T]} \left( \left\| \left[ \left( \varrho - 1 \right) (\tau, \cdot) \right] 1_{\left\{ |\varrho - 1| \geq \frac{1}{2} \right\}} \right\|_{L^{\gamma}(\mathbb{R}^{3})} \right) \leq C \varepsilon^{2/\gamma}. \tag{2.7}$$

Consequently,

$$\varrho_{\varepsilon} \to 1 \text{ in } L^{\infty}\left(0, T; L^{2}\left(\mathbb{R}^{3}\right) + L^{\gamma}\left(\mathbb{R}^{3}\right)\right).$$
 (2.8)

Similarly to above, for a function  $f_{\varepsilon}$  such that  $f_{\varepsilon} \in D_0^{1,2}(\mathbb{R}^3)$ , we can write

$$f_{\varepsilon} = f_{\varepsilon} 1_{\{|\varrho - 1| < \frac{1}{2}\}} + f_{\varepsilon} 1_{\{|\varrho - 1| \ge \frac{1}{2}\}}. \tag{2.9}$$

Now, for  $f_{\varepsilon} = (\mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon}, \boldsymbol{\omega}_{\varepsilon})$ , following [17] we decompose

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^3} |f_{\varepsilon}|^2 dx = \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} (1 - \varrho_{\varepsilon}) |f_{\varepsilon}|^2 dx + \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \varrho_{\varepsilon} |f_{\varepsilon}|^2 dx. \tag{2.10}$$

According to (2.3), the second term in (2.10) is bounded in  $L^{\infty}(0,T)$ . We consider the first term and we write

$$\varrho_{\varepsilon} - 1 = \varrho_{\varepsilon}^{(1)} + \varrho_{\varepsilon}^{(2)} \tag{2.11}$$

with

$$\varrho_{\varepsilon}^{(1)} \to 0 \text{ in } L^{\infty}\left(0, T; L^{\gamma}\left(\mathbb{R}^{3}\right)\right), \quad \varrho_{\varepsilon}^{(2)} \to 0 \text{ in } L^{\infty}\left(0, T; L^{2}\left(\mathbb{R}^{3}\right)\right), \quad (2.12)$$

according to (2.6) and (2.7). By Hölder and Sobolev inequality, we have

$$\left| \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} (1 - \varrho_{\varepsilon}) |f_{\varepsilon}|^{2} dx \right|$$

$$\leq c \varepsilon^{\frac{2}{\gamma}} \left( \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} |f_{\varepsilon}|^{2\gamma'} dx \right)^{1/\gamma'} + c \varepsilon \left( \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} |f_{\varepsilon}|^{4} dx \right)^{1/2}$$

$$\leq c \varepsilon^{\frac{2}{\gamma}} \left( \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} |f_{\varepsilon}|^{2} dx \right)^{\frac{3}{2\gamma'} - \frac{1}{2}} \left( \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} |f_{\varepsilon}|^{6} dx \right)^{\frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{2\gamma'}}$$

$$+ c \varepsilon \left( \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} |f_{\varepsilon}|^{2} dx \right)^{1/4} \left( \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} |f_{\varepsilon}|^{6} dx \right)^{1/4}$$

$$\leq c \varepsilon^{\frac{2}{\gamma}} \left( \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} |f_{\varepsilon}|^{2} dx \right)^{\frac{3}{2\gamma'} - \frac{1}{2}} \left( \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} |\nabla f_{\varepsilon}|^{2} dx \right)^{\frac{3}{2} \left( 1 - \frac{1}{\gamma'} \right)}$$

$$+ c \varepsilon \left( \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} |f_{\varepsilon}|^{2} dx \right)^{1/4} \left( \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} |\nabla f_{\varepsilon}|^{2} dx \right)^{3/4}$$

$$(2.13)$$

with  $1/\gamma + 1/\gamma' = 1$ , and where we used (2.6), (2.7) and the Sobolev's inequality (1.26). By applying Young's inequality, from (2.4) and (2.10) we conclude

$$f_{\varepsilon}$$
 uniformly bounded in  $L^{2}\left(0,T;W_{0}^{1,2}\left(\mathbb{R}^{3};\mathbb{R}^{3}\right)\right)$  (2.14)

and, consequently,

$$(\mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon}, \boldsymbol{\omega}_{\varepsilon})$$
 uniformly bounded in  $L^{2}\left(0, T; W_{0}^{1,2}\left(\mathbb{R}^{3}; \mathbb{R}^{3}\right)\right)$ , (2.15)

for fixed  $\mu, \lambda, \mu', \lambda' > 0$ . In particular, a direct consequence of (2.3) gives

$$(\mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon}, \boldsymbol{\omega}_{\varepsilon}) 1_{\{|\varrho-1|<\frac{1}{2}\}}$$
 uniformly bounded in  $L^{\infty}(0, T; L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{3}; \mathbb{R}^{3}))$ , (2.16)

and, back to (2.13), we have

$$\varepsilon^{-\min(1,2/\gamma)}(\mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon},\boldsymbol{\omega}_{\varepsilon})\mathbf{1}_{\left\{|\varrho-1|\geq \frac{1}{2}\right\}}$$
 uniformly bounded in  $L^{2}\left(0,T;L^{2}\left(\mathbb{R}^{3};\mathbb{R}^{3}\right)\right)$ , (2.17)

We conclude saying that, as a consequence of (2.3) and (2.7), we have

$$(\varrho_{\varepsilon}\mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon},\varrho_{\varepsilon}\boldsymbol{\omega}_{\varepsilon})\mathbf{1}_{\left\{|\varrho-1|<\frac{1}{2}\right\}}$$
 uniformly bounded in  $L^{\infty}(0,T;L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{3};\mathbb{R}^{3}))$  (2.18)

and

$$(\varrho_{\varepsilon}\mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon},\varrho_{\varepsilon}\boldsymbol{\omega}_{\varepsilon})\mathbf{1}_{\{|\varrho-1|\geq \frac{1}{2}\}}$$
 uniformly bounded in  $L^{\infty}(0,T;L^{\frac{2\gamma}{\gamma+1}}(\mathbb{R}^{3};\mathbb{R}^{3})).$  (2.19)

# 3 Acoustic waves

The compressibility of the fluid allows the propagation of the acoustic waves. In the following, we introduce the acoustic system related to the Eqs. (1.1) - (1.3) and we discuss the dispersion of the acoustic waves in the incompressible limit.

#### 3.1 Acoustic system

The acoustic system related to the Eqs. (1.1) - (1.3) in its homogeneous form reads as follows

$$\varepsilon \partial_t \psi_\varepsilon + \Delta \Psi_\varepsilon = 0, \quad \varepsilon \partial_t \nabla \Psi_\varepsilon + a^2 \nabla \psi_\varepsilon = 0, \quad a^2 = p'(1) > 0,$$
 (3.1)

supplemented with the initial data

$$\psi_{\varepsilon}(0,x) = \psi_{0,\varepsilon}(x), \quad \nabla \Psi_{\varepsilon}(0,x) = \nabla \Psi_{0,\varepsilon}(x).$$
(3.2)

Remark 13. The homogeneous acoustic system (3.1) is understood as a linearization of the inviscid compressible momentum equation (1.2) where we assumed that the perturbation of the density is small in comparison to the basic state. For more details the reader can refer to [15], Section 2.3.1, and [27], Chapter 8.

#### 3.2 Initial data

We consider

$$\psi_{0,\varepsilon} = \varrho_{0,\varepsilon}^{(1)}, \quad \nabla \Psi_{0,\varepsilon} = \mathbf{H}^{\perp}(\mathbf{u}_{0,\varepsilon}).$$
 (3.3)

The initial data (3.3) has to be understood in the sense that the velocity  $\mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon}$  is written in terms of the Helmholtz decomposition

$$\mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon} = \mathbf{H} \left[ \mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon} \right] + \mathbf{H}^{\perp} \left[ \mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon} \right],$$

where

$$\mathbf{H}^{\perp}\left[\mathbf{u}_{arepsilon}\right] = 
abla\Psi_{arepsilon}$$

represents the presence of the acoustic waves, with  $\Psi_{\varepsilon}$  the acoustic potential, disappearing in the limit  $\varepsilon \to 0$ , and  $\mathbf{H}[\mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon}]$  the solenoidal component.

#### 3.3 Energy and decay estimates

The acoustic system conserves energy, namely

$$\frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} |a\psi_{\varepsilon}(t,x)|^2 + |\nabla \Psi_{\varepsilon}(t,x)|^2 dx = \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} |a\psi_0(x)|^2 + |\nabla \Psi(x)|^2 dx \quad (3.4)$$

for any  $t \geq 0$ . Moreover, the following energy estimates hold

$$\|\psi_{\varepsilon}(t,\cdot)\|_{W^{k,2}(\mathbb{R}^3)} + \|\nabla\Psi_{\varepsilon}(t,\cdot)\|_{W^{k,2}(\mathbb{R}^3;\mathbb{R}^3)}$$

$$\leq c \left(\|\psi_{0,\varepsilon}\|_{W^{k,2}(\mathbb{R}^3)} + \|\nabla\Psi_{0,\varepsilon}\|_{W^{k,2}(\mathbb{R}^3;\mathbb{R}^3)}\right)$$

(3.5)

for  $k = 1, 2, \dots, m$ . Concerning the decay of the acoustic waves in the incompressible limit, we recall the following Strichartz or dispersive estimates (see [10], [34])

$$\|\psi_{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{q}(0,T;L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{3}))} + \|\nabla\Psi_{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{q}(0,T;L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{3};\mathbb{R}^{3}))}$$

$$\leq c\varepsilon^{\frac{1}{q}} \left( \|\psi_{0,\varepsilon}\|_{W^{\sigma,2}(\mathbb{R}^{3})} + \|\nabla\Psi_{0,\varepsilon}\|_{W^{\sigma,2}(\mathbb{R}^{3}:\mathbb{R}^{3})} \right), \tag{3.6}$$

for any

$$p, q \in (2, \infty), \frac{1}{q} = \frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{p}, \sigma = \frac{2}{q} < 1.$$
 (3.7)

Hence for any  $k = 0, 1, \dots, m - 1$ ,

$$\|\psi_{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{q}(0,T;W^{k,p}(\mathbb{R}^{3}))} + \|\nabla\Psi_{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{q}(0,T;W^{k,p}(\mathbb{R}^{3};\mathbb{R}^{3}))}$$

$$\leq c\varepsilon^{\frac{1}{q}} \left( \|\psi_{0,\varepsilon}\|_{W^{m,2}(\mathbb{R}^3)} + \|\nabla\Psi_{0,\varepsilon}\|_{W^{m,2}(\mathbb{R}^3;\mathbb{R}^3)} \right). \tag{3.8}$$

The homogeneous form of the energy and dispersive estimates discussed above and related to the system (3.1) - (3.2) will be used in order to prove the weak-strong convergence result.

#### 3.3.1 Inhomogeneous case

Now, we consider the inhomogeneous case of (3.1), namely

$$\varepsilon \partial_t \psi_{\varepsilon} + \Delta \Psi_{\varepsilon} = \varepsilon f_1, \quad \varepsilon \partial_t \nabla \Psi_{\varepsilon} + a^2 \nabla \psi_{\varepsilon} = \varepsilon \mathbf{f}_2$$
 (3.9)

supplemented with the initial data

$$\psi_{\varepsilon}(0,x) = \psi_{0,\varepsilon}(x), \quad \nabla \Psi_{\varepsilon}(0,x) = \nabla \Psi_{0,\varepsilon}(x),$$
(3.10)

where  $f_1, \mathbf{f}_2 \in L^q(0, T; W^{m,2}(\mathbb{R}^3))$  and  $\psi_{0,\varepsilon}(x_h), \nabla \Psi_{0,\varepsilon} \in W^{m,2}(\mathbb{R}^3)$ . The following energy estimates hold

$$\|\psi_{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{\infty}(0,T;W^{k,2}(\mathbb{R}^{3}))} + \|\nabla\Psi_{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{\infty}(0,T;W^{k,2}(\mathbb{R}^{3};\mathbb{R}^{3}))}$$

$$\leq c \left(\|\psi_{0,\varepsilon}\|_{W^{m,2}(\mathbb{R}^{3})} + \|\nabla\Psi_{0,\varepsilon}\|_{W^{m,2}(\mathbb{R}^{3};\mathbb{R}^{3})}\right)$$

$$+c \left(\|f_{1}\|_{L^{2}(0,T;W^{m,2}(\mathbb{R}^{3}))} + \|\mathbf{f}_{2}\|_{L^{2}(0,T;W^{m,2}(\mathbb{R}^{3};\mathbb{R}^{3}))}\right), \tag{3.11}$$

as well as the Strichartz or dispersive estimates

$$\|\psi_{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{q}(0,T;W^{k,p}(\mathbb{R}^{3}))} + \|\nabla\Psi_{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{q}(0,T;W^{k,p}(\mathbb{R}^{3};\mathbb{R}^{3}))}$$

$$\leq c\varepsilon^{\frac{1}{q}} \left( \|\psi_{0,\varepsilon}\|_{W^{m,2}(\mathbb{R}^{3})} + \|\nabla\Psi_{0,\varepsilon}\|_{W^{m,2}(\mathbb{R}^{3};\mathbb{R}^{3})} \right)$$

$$+c(T)\varepsilon^{\frac{1}{q}} \left( \|f_{1}\|_{L^{q}(0,T;W^{m,2}(\mathbb{R}^{3}))} + \|\mathbf{f}_{2}\|_{L^{q}(0,T;W^{m,2}(\mathbb{R}^{3};\mathbb{R}^{3}))} \right)$$
(3.12)

for the same k, p, q as above (see [4], [10]).

In the weak-weak convergence analysis, we will consider the inhomogeneous case discussed above in terms of the Lighthill acoustic analogy [28],

[29]. In this sense, the momentum  $\varrho_{\varepsilon}\mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon} = \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}$  will be written in terms of its Helmholtz decomposition, namely

$$\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} = \mathbf{H} \left[ \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \right] + \mathbf{H}^{\perp} \left[ \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \right],$$

where

$$\mathbf{H}^{\perp}[\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}] = \nabla \Psi_{\varepsilon}.$$

In the following we will show the compactness of the solenoidal part and that  $\nabla \Psi_{\varepsilon}$  tends to zero on compact subsets and therefore becames negligible in the limit  $\varepsilon \to 0$ .

### 3.3.2 Regularization

For the purpose of our analysis, it is convenient to regularize the initial data (3.3) in the following way

$$\varrho_{0,\varepsilon,\eta}^{(1)} = \chi_{\eta} \star \left(\phi_{\eta} \varrho_{0,\varepsilon}^{(1)}\right), \quad \nabla \Psi_{0,\varepsilon,\eta} = \chi_{\eta} \star \left(\phi_{\eta} \nabla \Psi_{0,\varepsilon}\right), \tag{3.13}$$

with  $\eta > 0$  and where  $\{\chi_{\eta}\}$  is a family of regularizing kernels (see Section 2.1) and  $\phi_{\eta} \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^3)$  are standards cut-off functions. Consequently, the acoustic system posses a (unique) smooth solution  $[\psi_{\varepsilon}, \Psi_{\varepsilon}]$  and the quantities  $\nabla \Psi_{\varepsilon}$  and  $\psi_{\varepsilon}$  are compactly supported in  $\mathbb{R}^3$ .

# 4 Weak-weak limit

Following Lighthill [28], [29], it is possible to write the Navier-Stokes system in its acoustic analogy, namely

$$\varepsilon \partial_t \left( \frac{\varrho_{\varepsilon} - 1}{\varepsilon} \right) + \operatorname{div} \left( \varrho_{\varepsilon} \mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon} \right) = 0,$$
 (4.1)

$$\varepsilon \partial_t \left( \varrho_\varepsilon \mathbf{u}_\varepsilon \right) + a^2 \nabla \left( \frac{\varrho_\varepsilon - 1}{\varepsilon} \right)$$

$$= \varepsilon \left( \nu \mathrm{div} \mathbb{S}(\nabla \mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon}) - \mathrm{div} \varrho_{\varepsilon} \mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon} \otimes \mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon} \right)$$

$$-\frac{1}{\varepsilon^{2}}\nabla\left(p\left(\varrho_{\varepsilon}\right)-a^{2}\left(\varrho_{\varepsilon}-1\right)-p\left(1\right)\right)+2\nu\xi\nabla\times\boldsymbol{\omega}_{\varepsilon}\right)$$
(4.2)

supplemented with the conditions (1.12). The system (4.1) and (4.2) has to be understood in the weak sense, namely

$$\int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \varepsilon r_{\varepsilon} \partial_{t} \varphi + \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \cdot \nabla \varphi dx dt + \varepsilon \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} r_{0,\varepsilon} \varphi(0,x) dx = 0, \qquad (4.3)$$

holds for every  $\varphi \in C_c^{\infty}([0,T) \times \mathbb{R}^3)$ , while

$$\int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \varepsilon \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} \cdot \partial_{t} \varphi + a^{2} r_{\varepsilon} \operatorname{div} \varphi dx dt + \varepsilon \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \mathbf{m}_{0,\varepsilon} \cdot \varphi(0,x) dx$$

$$= \varepsilon \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} (\mathbf{f}_{\varepsilon} : \nabla \varphi + \mathbf{g}_{\varepsilon} \cdot \varphi) dx dt, \qquad (4.4)$$

for any  $\varphi \in C_c^{\infty}([0,T) \times \mathbb{R}^3; \mathbb{R}^3)$ , where

$$r_{\varepsilon} = \frac{\varrho_{\varepsilon} - 1}{\varepsilon}, \quad \mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon} = \varrho_{\varepsilon} \mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon}, \quad \mathbf{f}_{\varepsilon} = \mathbf{f}_{\varepsilon}^{1} + \mathbf{f}_{\varepsilon}^{2} + \mathbf{f}_{\varepsilon}^{3},$$
$$\mathbf{f}_{\varepsilon}^{1} = \varrho_{\varepsilon} \mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon} \otimes \mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon}, \quad \mathbf{f}_{\varepsilon}^{2} = -\nu \mathbb{S}(\nabla \mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon}),$$
$$\mathbf{f}_{\varepsilon}^{3} = \frac{1}{\varepsilon^{2}} \left( p\left(\varrho_{\varepsilon}\right) - a^{2}\left(\varrho_{\varepsilon} - 1\right) - p\left(1\right) \right) \mathbb{I}_{2},$$
$$\mathbf{g}_{\varepsilon} = 2\nu \xi(\nabla \times \boldsymbol{\omega}_{\varepsilon}),$$

such that

$$\mathbf{f}_{\varepsilon}^{2}, \mathbf{g}_{\varepsilon}$$
 uniformly bounded in  $L^{2}\left(0, T; L^{2}\left(\mathbb{R}^{3}; \mathbb{R}^{3\times3}\right)\right)$  (4.5)

and  $\mathbf{f}_{\varepsilon}^1$ ,  $\mathbf{f}_{\varepsilon}^3$  uniformly bounded in  $L^{\infty}(0,T;L^1(\mathbb{R}^3;\mathbb{R}^{3\times 3}))$  according to (2.3) - (2.7). Consequently, we have

 $\mathbf{f}_{\varepsilon}^{1}$ ,  $\mathbf{f}_{\varepsilon}^{3}$  uniformly bounded in  $L^{\infty}(0, T; W^{-s,2}(\mathbb{R}^{3}; \mathbb{R}^{3\times 3}))$ , s > 3/2, (4.6) since  $L^{1}(\mathbb{R}^{3})$  is continuously embedded in  $W^{-s,2}(\mathbb{R}^{3}; \mathbb{R}^{3})$ .

# 4.1 Compactness of the solenoidal component

From the uniform bound (2.15), there exists  $\mathbf{U}(t,x) \in \mathbb{R}^3$  such that

$$\mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon} \to \mathbf{U}$$
 weakly in  $L^{2}\left(0, T; W^{1,2}\left(\mathbb{R}^{3}; \mathbb{R}^{3}\right)\right)$ . (4.7)

Consequently, from (2.8), (4.7) and the weak formulation of the continuity equation, we have

$$m = U$$

and

$$\operatorname{div} \mathbf{U} = 0 \text{ in } \mathcal{D}',$$

which is equivalent to

$$\operatorname{div} \mathbf{v} = 0.$$

Moreover, from (2.15), we also have

$$\omega_{\varepsilon} \to \omega$$
 weakly in  $L^2(0, T; W^{1,2}(\mathbb{R}^3; \mathbb{R}^3))$ . (4.8)

Now, we have

$$\mathbf{H}\left[\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}\right] \to \mathbf{m} \text{ weakly-(*) in } L^{\infty}\left(0, T; \left(L^{2} + L^{2\gamma/(\gamma+1)}\right)\left(\mathbb{R}^{3}; \mathbb{R}^{3}\right)\right).$$
 (4.9)

From (4.4) and the bounds (4.5) and (4.6), the above convergence could be strengthen in the sense that

$$\left[\tau \mapsto \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \mathbf{H}\left[\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}\right] \cdot \phi dx\right] \to \left[\tau \mapsto \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \mathbf{m} \cdot \phi dx\right] \text{ in } C\left[0, T\right], \tag{4.10}$$

for any  $\phi \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^3; \mathbb{R}^3)$ ,  $\operatorname{div} \phi = 0$  (for more details see [19], Section 6.2). Consequently,

$$\mathbf{H}\left[\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}\right] \to \mathbf{m} \text{ in } C_{weak}\left(0, T; \left(L^{2} + L^{2\gamma/(\gamma+1)}\right)\left(\mathbb{R}^{3}; \mathbb{R}^{3}\right)\right).$$
 (4.11)

In particular, we note that  $2\gamma/(\gamma+1) > 6/5$  for  $\gamma > 3/2$ , and the convergence (4.11) yields

$$\mathbf{H}\left[\mathbf{m}_{\varepsilon}\right] \to \mathbf{m} \text{ in } C\left(0, T; W^{-1,2}\left(\mathbb{R}^{3}; \mathbb{R}^{3}\right)\right)$$
 (4.12)

thanks to the compact embedding of  $L^q$  in  $W^{-1,2}$  for q > 6/5. Now, from (2.8), (4.7) and (4.12), we have

$$\mathbf{H}[\mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon}] \cdot \mathbf{H}[\mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon}] = (\mathbf{H}[(1 - \varrho_{\varepsilon})\mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon}] + \mathbf{H}[\varrho_{\varepsilon}\mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon}]) \cdot \mathbf{H}[\mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon}] \to |\mathbf{v}|^2$$

in the sense of distribution. In particular, thanks to (4.7) and the compact embedding of  $W^{1,2}(\mathbb{R}^3)$  in  $L^2_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^3)$ , we have

$$\mathbf{H}[\mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon}] \to \mathbf{v} \text{ in } L^2(0, T; L^2_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^3; \mathbb{R}^3)).$$
 (4.13)

# 4.2 Compactness of the gradient component

From (4.1) - (4.2) (or from the weak formulation (4.3) - (4.4)), we have  $r_{\varepsilon} = \frac{\varrho_{\varepsilon} - 1}{\varepsilon}$  and  $\nabla \Psi_{\varepsilon} = \mathbf{H}^{\perp}(\varrho_{\varepsilon}\mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon})$ , and the inhomogeneous acoustic system reads as follows

$$\varepsilon \partial_t r_{\varepsilon} + \Delta \Psi_{\varepsilon} = 0, \quad \varepsilon \partial_t \nabla \Psi_{\varepsilon} + a^2 \nabla r_{\varepsilon} = \varepsilon (\operatorname{div} \mathbb{F}_{\varepsilon} + \mathbb{G}_{\varepsilon}), \tag{4.14}$$

supplemented with the initial data

$$r_{\varepsilon}(0,x) = \varrho_{0,\varepsilon}^{(1)}, \quad \nabla \Psi_{\varepsilon}(0,x) = \mathbf{H}^{\perp}(\varrho_{0,\varepsilon}\mathbf{u}_{0,\varepsilon}).$$
 (4.15)

Here,  $\mathbb{F}_{\varepsilon}$  and  $\mathbb{G}_{\varepsilon}$  are the gradient part of  $\mathbf{f}_{\varepsilon}$  and  $\mathbf{g}_{\varepsilon}$  in the sense of (1.39), namely

$$\mathbb{F}_{\varepsilon} = \mathbf{H}^{\perp} \left[ \varrho_{\varepsilon} \mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon} \otimes \mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon} - \nu \mathbb{S}(\nabla \mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon}) + \frac{1}{\varepsilon^{2}} \left( p \left( \varrho_{\varepsilon} \right) - a^{2} \left( \varrho_{\varepsilon} - 1 \right) - p \left( 1 \right) \right) \right] \\
= \mathbb{F}_{\varepsilon}^{1} + \mathbb{F}_{\varepsilon}^{2} + \mathbb{F}_{\varepsilon}^{3}, \tag{4.16}$$

$$\mathbb{G}_{\varepsilon} = \mathbf{H}^{\perp} [2\nu\xi\nabla \times \boldsymbol{\omega}_{\varepsilon}], \tag{4.17}$$

where, in particular, we observe that  $\mathbb{G}_{\varepsilon} = 0$ . Moreover,

$$\mathbb{F}_{\varepsilon}^2$$
 uniformly bounded in  $L^2\left(0, T; L^2\left(\mathbb{R}^3; \mathbb{R}^{3\times 3}\right)\right)$  (4.18)

 $\mathbb{F}^1_{\varepsilon}$ ,  $\mathbb{F}^3_{\varepsilon}$  uniformly bounded in  $L^{\infty}(0,T;W^{-s,2}(\mathbb{R}^3;\mathbb{R}^{3\times 3}))$ , s>3/2, (4.19) according to (4.5) and (4.6).

The system (4.14) and (4.15) is the inhomogeneous acoustic system (3.9) - (3.10). In order to apply the dispersive estimates, we regularize (4.14) and (4.15) in the sense of (3.13), namely

$$\varepsilon \partial_t r_{\varepsilon,\eta} + \Delta \Psi_{\varepsilon,\eta} = 0, \quad \varepsilon \partial_t \nabla \Psi_{\varepsilon,\eta} + a^2 \nabla r_{\varepsilon,\eta} = \varepsilon \operatorname{div} \mathbb{F}_{\varepsilon,\eta}$$
 (4.20)

$$r_{\varepsilon,\eta}(0,x) = \left(\varrho_{0,\varepsilon}^{(1)}\right)_n, \quad \nabla \Psi_{\varepsilon,\eta}(0,x) = \left(\mathbf{H}^{\perp}(\varrho_{0,\varepsilon}\mathbf{u}_{0,\varepsilon})\right)_n.$$
 (4.21)

Now, we use the Strichartz estimates (3.12) (with k = 0 (m = 1), p = 4 and q = 4, for example). We have

$$||r_{\varepsilon,\eta}||_{L_{T}^{q}(L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{3}))} + ||\nabla \Psi_{\varepsilon,\eta}||_{L_{T}^{q}(L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{3};\mathbb{R}^{3}))}$$

$$\leq c\varepsilon^{\frac{1}{q}} \left( ||r_{\varepsilon,\eta}(0,x)||_{W^{1,2}(\mathbb{R}^{3})} + ||\nabla \Psi_{\varepsilon,\eta}(0,x)||_{W^{1,2}(\mathbb{R}^{3};\mathbb{R}^{3})} \right)$$

$$+c(T)\varepsilon^{\frac{1}{q}} ||\operatorname{div}\mathbb{F}_{\varepsilon,\eta}||_{L_{T}^{q}(W^{1,2}(\mathbb{R}^{3};\mathbb{R}^{3}))}. \tag{4.22}$$

According to the uniform bounds (4.18), (4.19) and (4.21), the above dispersive estimate holds for  $\operatorname{div} \mathbb{F}^1_{\varepsilon}$  and  $\operatorname{div} \mathbb{F}^3_{\varepsilon}$ . However, due to the lack of integrability in time, the dispersive estimate (4.22) does not hold for  $\operatorname{div} \mathbb{F}^2_{\varepsilon}$ . Consequently, we have

$$||r_{\varepsilon,\eta}||_{L_T^q(L^p(\mathbb{R}^3))} + ||\nabla \Psi_{\varepsilon,\eta}||_{L_T^q(L^p(\mathbb{R}^3;\mathbb{R}^3))}$$

$$\leq c\varepsilon^{\frac{1}{q}} \left( ||r_{\varepsilon,\eta}(0,x)||_{W^{1,2}(\mathbb{R}^3)} + ||\nabla \Psi_{\varepsilon,\eta}(0,x)||_{W^{1,2}(\mathbb{R}^3;\mathbb{R}^3)} \right)$$

$$+c(T)\varepsilon^{\frac{1}{q}}\|\operatorname{div}\mathbb{F}_{\varepsilon,\eta}^{1}\|_{L_{T}^{q}(W^{1,2}(\mathbb{R}^{3};\mathbb{R}^{3}))}+c(T)\varepsilon^{\frac{1}{q}}\|\operatorname{div}\mathbb{F}_{\varepsilon,\eta}^{2}\|_{L_{T}^{q}(W^{1,2}(\mathbb{R}^{3};\mathbb{R}^{3}))}$$

$$\leq c(\eta)\varepsilon^{\frac{1}{q}}+c(\eta,T)\varepsilon^{\frac{1}{q}}, \quad \eta \in (0,1). \tag{4.23}$$

Now, in order to overcome the lack of integrability in time, following the decomposition (2.9), in the spirit of [10] we define

$$\mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon}^{(1)} = \mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon} \mathbf{1}_{\{|\varrho-1| < \frac{1}{2}\}}, \quad \mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon}^{(2)} = \mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon} \mathbf{1}_{\{|\varrho-1| \geq \frac{1}{2}\}}.$$

Consequently, we split

$$\begin{aligned} \operatorname{div} \mathbb{F}_{\varepsilon}^{2} &= \operatorname{div} \mathbb{S}(\nabla \mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon}^{(1)}) + \operatorname{div} \mathbb{S}(\nabla \mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon}^{(2)}) \\ &= \mathbb{F}_{\varepsilon}^{(2,1)} + \mathbb{F}_{\varepsilon}^{(2,2)}. \end{aligned}$$

From the uniform estimates (2.16), we deduce that

$$\mathbb{F}_{\varepsilon}^{(2,1)}$$
 uniformly bounded in  $L^{\infty}(0,T;W^{-2,2}(\mathbb{R}^3;\mathbb{R}^3))$ ,

which can be handled using (4.22). While, from the uniform estimate (2.17), we can deduce

$$\varepsilon^{-\min(1,2/\gamma)}\mathbb{F}^{(2,2)}_{\varepsilon} \text{ uniformly bounded in } L^2(0,T;W^{-2,2}(\mathbb{R}^3;\mathbb{R}^3));$$

see e.g. [10]. Consequently, the corresponding acoustic wave produced by  $\mathbb{F}_{\varepsilon,\eta}^{(2,2)}$  vanishes in  $L^2(0,T;L^p(\mathbb{R}^3;\mathbb{R}^3))$  as  $\varepsilon\to 0$  (for fixed  $\eta$ ) according to (4.22). Letting  $\varepsilon\to 0$ , we find that for any  $\eta\in (0,1)$  and p>2

$$\nabla \Psi_{\varepsilon,\eta} \to 0 \text{ in } L^2(0,T;L^p(\mathbb{R}^3;\mathbb{R}^3)),$$
 (4.24)

since q > 2. Now, following the analysis in [10], we study the following quantity

$$\mathbf{H}^{\perp}(\mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon}) = \mathbf{H}^{\perp}(\mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon}) - \mathbf{H}^{\perp}(\mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon})_{\eta} - \varepsilon \mathbf{H}^{\perp} \left( r_{\varepsilon} \mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon} \right)_{\eta} + \mathbf{H}^{\perp} (\varrho_{\varepsilon} \mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon})_{\eta}$$

where  $\nabla \Psi_{\varepsilon,\eta} = \mathbf{H}^{\perp}(\varrho_{\varepsilon}\mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon})_{\eta}$ . We have

$$\|\mathbf{H}^{\perp}(\mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon})\|_{L^{2}_{T}(L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{3};\mathbb{R}^{3}))} \leq \|\mathbf{H}^{\perp}(\mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon}) - \mathbf{H}^{\perp}(\mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon})_{\eta}\|_{L^{2}_{T}(L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{3};\mathbb{R}^{3}))}$$

$$+\|\varepsilon\mathbf{H}^{\perp}(r_{\varepsilon}\mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon})_{\eta}\|_{L_{x}^{2}(L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{3};\mathbb{R}^{3}))}+\|\mathbf{H}^{\perp}(\varrho_{\varepsilon}\mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon})_{\eta}\|_{L_{x}^{2}(L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{3};\mathbb{R}^{3}))}.$$
(4.25)

By the use of the estimates (2.1) and (2.2), the first and the second terms on the right hand side of (4.25) could be estimated as follows

$$\|\mathbf{H}^{\perp}(\mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon}) - \mathbf{H}^{\perp}(\mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon})_{\eta}\|_{L_{T}^{2}(L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{3};\mathbb{R}^{3}))} \leq \eta^{1-\beta} \|\nabla \mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon}\|_{L_{T}^{2}(L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{3};\mathbb{R}^{3}))}, \quad \beta = 3\left(\frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{p}\right),$$

$$\|\varepsilon \mathbf{H}^{\perp} \left(r_{\varepsilon} \mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon}\right)_{\eta}\|_{L_{T}^{2}(L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{3};\mathbb{R}^{3}))} \leq \varepsilon \eta^{-(1+\beta)} \|r_{\varepsilon} \mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon}\|_{L_{T}^{2}(W^{-1,2}(\mathbb{R}^{3};\mathbb{R}^{3}))},$$

with  $\beta \in (0,1)$  for  $p \in (2,6)$ . Consequently, choosing  $\eta$  in terms of  $\varepsilon$ , namely  $\eta = \varepsilon^{1/\alpha}$  with  $\alpha > (1+\beta)$ , and taking  $\varepsilon \to 0$  in (4.25), we obtain

$$\mathbf{H}^{\perp}(\mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon}) \to 0 \text{ in } L^{2}(0, T; L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{3}; \mathbb{R}^{3})), \ p \in (2, 6).$$
 (4.26)

Combining the convergence (4.26) with the strong convergence of the solenoidal part (4.13), we obtain

$$\mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon} \to \mathbf{v} \text{ in } L^2(0, T; L^2_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^3; \mathbb{R}^3)).$$
 (4.27)

# 4.3 The weak-weak limit convergence

Applying the strong convergence (4.27) together with (4.7) and (4.8) in the weak formulation, we obtain

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \mathbf{v} \cdot \nabla \varphi dx = 0$$

for any  $\varphi \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^3)$ . Moreover,

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \mathbf{v} \cdot \varphi(\tau, x) dx - \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \mathbf{v}_0 \cdot \varphi(0, x) dx$$

$$= \int_0^{\tau} \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \mathbf{v} \cdot \partial_t \varphi + \mathbf{v} \otimes \mathbf{v} : \nabla \varphi dx dt - (\mu + \xi) \int_0^{\tau} \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \nabla \mathbf{v} : \nabla \varphi dx dt$$

$$+2\xi \int_0^{\tau} \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} (\nabla \times \boldsymbol{\omega}) \cdot \varphi dx dt$$

and

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \boldsymbol{\omega} \cdot \varphi(\tau, x) dx - \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \boldsymbol{\omega}_{0} \cdot \varphi(0, x) dx$$

$$= \int_{0}^{\tau} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \boldsymbol{\omega} \cdot \partial_{t} \varphi + \mathbf{v} \otimes \boldsymbol{\omega} : \nabla \varphi dx dt - \mu' \int_{0}^{\tau} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \nabla \boldsymbol{\omega} : \nabla \varphi dx dt$$

$$-(\mu' + \lambda') \int_{0}^{\tau} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \operatorname{div} \boldsymbol{\omega} : \operatorname{div} \varphi dx dt + 4\xi \int_{0}^{\tau} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \boldsymbol{\omega} \cdot \varphi dx dt - 2\xi \int_{0}^{\tau} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \nabla \times \mathbf{v} dx dt,$$

for any  $\varphi \in C_c^{\infty}([0,T) \times \mathbb{R}^3)$ ,  $\text{div}\varphi = 0$ . We thus conclude the proof of the Theorem 9.

# 5 Weak-strong limit

# 5.1 Relative energy inequality

Inspired by [18], for any sufficiently smooth function  $(r, \mathbf{U}, \mathbf{W})$ , we introduce the following relative energy functional

$$\mathcal{E}(\varrho_{\varepsilon}, \mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon}, \boldsymbol{\omega}_{\varepsilon} | r, \mathbf{U}, \mathbf{W})(\tau, x)$$

$$= \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \left( \frac{1}{2} \varrho_{\varepsilon} |\mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon} - \mathbf{U}|^2 + \frac{1}{2} \varrho_{\varepsilon} |\boldsymbol{\omega}_{\varepsilon} - \mathbf{W}|^2 + H(\varrho_{\varepsilon}) + H'(r)(\varrho_{\varepsilon} - r) - H(r) \right) dx.$$
(5.1)

Now, in order to derive a relative energy inequality satisfied by the weak solution  $(\varrho_{\varepsilon}, \mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon}, \boldsymbol{\omega}_{\varepsilon})$ , following [24] we test the continuity equation (1.22) with  $\frac{1}{2}|\mathbf{U}|, \frac{1}{2}|\mathbf{W}|^2$  and H'(r) - H'(1) respectively. We have,

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \frac{1}{2} \varrho_{\varepsilon}(\tau, x) |\mathbf{U}|^2(\tau, x) dx - \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \frac{1}{2} \varrho_{0, \varepsilon} |\mathbf{U}|^2(0, x) dx$$

$$= \int_0^T \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} (\varrho_{\varepsilon} \mathbf{U} \cdot \partial_t \mathbf{U} + \varrho_{\varepsilon} \mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon} \cdot \nabla \mathbf{U} \cdot \mathbf{U}) dx dt, \tag{5.2}$$

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \frac{1}{2} \varrho_{\varepsilon}(\tau, x) |\mathbf{W}|^2(\tau, x) dx - \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \frac{1}{2} \varrho_{0, \varepsilon} |\mathbf{W}|^2(0, x) dx$$

$$= \int_0^T \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} (\varrho_{\varepsilon} \mathbf{W} \cdot \partial_t \mathbf{W} + \varrho_{\varepsilon} \mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon} \cdot \nabla \mathbf{W} \cdot \mathbf{W}) dx dt \tag{5.3}$$

and

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \frac{1}{2} \varrho_{\varepsilon}(\tau, x) (H'(r) - H'(1))(\tau, x) dx - \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \frac{1}{2} \varrho_{0, \varepsilon} (H'(r) - H'(1))(0, x) dx$$

$$= \int_0^T \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \left( \varrho_{\varepsilon} \partial_t H'(r) + \varrho_{\varepsilon} \mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon} \cdot \nabla H'(r) \right) dx dt. \tag{5.4}$$

Now, we test (1.23) and (1.24) with **U** and W, respectively. We obtain

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \varrho_{\varepsilon} \mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon}(\tau, x) \cdot \mathbf{U}(\tau, x) dx - \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \varrho_{0, \varepsilon} \mathbf{u}_{0, \varepsilon} \cdot \mathbf{U}(0, x) dx$$

$$= \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \left( \varrho_{\varepsilon} \mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon} \cdot \partial_{t} \mathbf{U} + \varrho_{\varepsilon} \mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon} \otimes \mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon} : \nabla \mathbf{U} + \frac{p(\varrho_{\varepsilon})}{\varepsilon^{2}} \operatorname{div} \mathbf{U} \right) dx dt$$

$$-\nu \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \left( (\mu + \xi) \nabla \mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon} : \nabla \mathbf{U} + (\mu + \lambda - \xi) \operatorname{div} \mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon} \operatorname{div} \mathbf{U} \right) dx dt$$

$$+\nu \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} 2\xi(\nabla \times \boldsymbol{\omega}_{\varepsilon}) \cdot \mathbf{U} dx dt \tag{5.5}$$

and

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \varrho_{\varepsilon} \boldsymbol{\omega}_{\varepsilon}(\tau, x) \cdot \mathbf{W}(\tau, x) dx - \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \varrho_{0,\varepsilon} \boldsymbol{\omega}_{0,\varepsilon} \cdot \mathbf{W}(0, x) dx$$

$$= \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} (\varrho_{\varepsilon} \boldsymbol{\omega}_{\varepsilon} \cdot \partial_{t} \mathbf{W} + \varrho_{\varepsilon} \boldsymbol{\omega}_{\varepsilon} \otimes \mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon} : \nabla \mathbf{W} - 4\xi \boldsymbol{\omega}_{\varepsilon} \cdot \mathbf{W}) dx dt$$

$$-\nu \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} (\mu' \nabla \boldsymbol{\omega}_{\varepsilon} : \nabla \mathbf{W} + (\mu' + \lambda') \operatorname{div} \boldsymbol{\omega}_{\varepsilon} \operatorname{div} \mathbf{W}) dx dt$$

$$+\nu \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} 2\xi (\nabla \times \mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon}) \cdot \mathbf{W} dx dt. \tag{5.6}$$

Plugging (5.2) - (5.6) in (5.1) and using the energy inequality (1.25), we obtain the following relative energy inequality

$$\mathcal{E}(\varrho_{\varepsilon}, \mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon}, \boldsymbol{\omega}_{\varepsilon} | r, \mathbf{U}, \mathbf{W})(\tau, x) - \mathcal{E}(\varrho_{\varepsilon}, \mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon}, \boldsymbol{\omega}_{\varepsilon} | r, \mathbf{U}, \mathbf{W})(0, x)$$

$$+\nu \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \left( (\mu + \xi) \nabla \mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon} : (\nabla \mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon} - \nabla \mathbf{U}) + (\mu + \lambda - \xi) \operatorname{div} \mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon} (\operatorname{div} \mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon} - \operatorname{div} \mathbf{U}) \right) dxdt$$

$$+\nu \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \left( \mu' \nabla \boldsymbol{\omega}_{\varepsilon} : (\nabla \boldsymbol{\omega}_{\varepsilon} - \nabla \mathbf{W}) + (\mu' + \lambda') \operatorname{div} \boldsymbol{\omega}_{\varepsilon} (\operatorname{div} \boldsymbol{\omega}_{\varepsilon} - \operatorname{div} \mathbf{W}) \right) dxdt$$

$$+\nu \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \left( 4\xi \boldsymbol{\omega}_{\varepsilon} \cdot (\boldsymbol{\omega}_{\varepsilon} - \mathbf{W}) - 2\xi (\nabla \times \boldsymbol{\omega}_{\varepsilon}) \cdot (\mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon} - \mathbf{U}) - 2\xi (\nabla \times \mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon}) \cdot (\boldsymbol{\omega}_{\varepsilon} - \mathbf{W}) \right) dxdt$$

$$\leq \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \varrho_{\varepsilon} \left( \partial_{t} \mathbf{U} + \mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon} \cdot \nabla \mathbf{U} \right) \cdot (\mathbf{U} - \mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon}) dxdt + \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \varrho_{\varepsilon} \left( \partial_{t} \mathbf{W} + \mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon} \cdot \nabla \mathbf{W} \right) \cdot (\mathbf{W} - \boldsymbol{\omega}_{\varepsilon}) dxdt$$

$$+ \frac{1}{\varepsilon^{2}} \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \left( (r - \varrho_{\varepsilon}) \partial_{t} H'(r) + \nabla H'(r) \cdot (r \mathbf{U} - \varrho_{\varepsilon} \mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon}) \right) dxdt$$

$$- \frac{1}{\varepsilon^{2}} \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \left( p(\varrho_{\varepsilon}) - p(r) \right) \operatorname{div} \mathbf{U} dxdt, \tag{5.7}$$

for any smooth function  $(r, \mathbf{U}, \mathbf{W})$  such that

$$r > 0, \ (r - 1) \in C_c^{\infty} ([0, T] \times \mathbb{R}^3), \ (\mathbf{U}, \mathbf{W}) \in C_c^{\infty} ([0, T] \times \mathbb{R}^3; \mathbb{R}^3).$$
 (5.8)

# 5.2 The incompressible inviscid limit

After some algebra, the relative energy inequality (5.7) could be rewritten as follows

$$\mathcal{E}(\varrho_{\varepsilon}, \mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon}, \boldsymbol{\omega}_{\varepsilon} | r, \mathbf{U}, \mathbf{W})(\tau, \cdot) - \mathcal{E}(\varrho_{\varepsilon}, \mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon}, \boldsymbol{\omega}_{\varepsilon} | r, \mathbf{U}, \mathbf{W})(0, \cdot)$$

$$+\nu \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} ((\mu + \xi)(\nabla \mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon} - \nabla \mathbf{U}) : (\nabla \mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon} - \nabla \mathbf{U}) + (\mu + \lambda - \xi)(\operatorname{div}\mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon} - \operatorname{div}\mathbf{U})(\operatorname{div}\mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon} - \operatorname{div}\mathbf{U})) \, dx dt$$

$$+\nu \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} (\mu'(\nabla \boldsymbol{\omega}_{\varepsilon} - \nabla \mathbf{W}) : (\nabla \boldsymbol{\omega}_{\varepsilon} - \nabla \mathbf{W}) + (\mu' + \lambda')(\operatorname{div}\boldsymbol{\omega}_{\varepsilon} - \operatorname{div}\mathbf{W})(\operatorname{div}\boldsymbol{\omega}_{\varepsilon} - \operatorname{div}\mathbf{W})) \, dx dt$$

$$+\nu \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \xi |2(\boldsymbol{\omega}_{\varepsilon} - \mathbf{W}) - \nabla \times (\mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon} - \mathbf{U})|^{2} dx$$

$$\leq \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \varrho_{\varepsilon} (\partial_{t}\mathbf{U} + \mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon} \cdot \nabla \mathbf{U}) \cdot (\mathbf{U} - \mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon}) \, dx dt + \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \varrho_{\varepsilon} (\partial_{t}\mathbf{W} + \mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon} \cdot \nabla \mathbf{W}) \cdot (\mathbf{W} - \boldsymbol{\omega}_{\varepsilon}) \, dx dt$$

$$-\nu \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} ((\mu + \xi)\nabla \mathbf{U} : (\nabla \mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon} - \nabla \mathbf{U}) + (\mu + \lambda - \xi) \operatorname{div}\mathbf{U}(\operatorname{div}\mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon} - \operatorname{div}\mathbf{U})) \, dx dt$$

$$-\nu \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} (\mu'\nabla \mathbf{W} : (\nabla \boldsymbol{\omega}_{\varepsilon} - \nabla \mathbf{W}) + (\mu' + \lambda') \operatorname{div}\mathbf{W}(\operatorname{div}\boldsymbol{\omega}_{\varepsilon} - \operatorname{div}\mathbf{W})) \, dx dt$$

$$-\nu \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} (4\xi \mathbf{W} \cdot (\boldsymbol{\omega}_{\varepsilon} - \mathbf{W}) - 2\xi(\nabla \times \mathbf{W}) \cdot (\mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon} - \mathbf{U}) - 2\xi(\nabla \times \mathbf{U}) \cdot (\boldsymbol{\omega}_{\varepsilon} - \mathbf{W})) \, dx dt$$

$$+ \frac{1}{\varepsilon^{2}} \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} ((r - \varrho_{\varepsilon})\partial_{t}H'(r) + \nabla H'(r) \cdot (r\mathbf{U} - \varrho_{\varepsilon}\mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon})) \, dx dt$$

$$-\frac{1}{\varepsilon^{2}} \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} (p(\varrho_{\varepsilon}) - p(r)) \operatorname{div}\mathbf{U} dx dt. \qquad (5.9)$$

Now, let  $r_{\varepsilon,\eta} = 1 + \varepsilon \psi_{\varepsilon,\eta}$ . In the following, we will use

$$[r_{\varepsilon,\eta}, \mathbf{U}_{\varepsilon,\eta}, \mathbf{W}_{\varepsilon,\eta}], \ \mathbf{U}_{\varepsilon,\eta} = (\mathbf{v} + \nabla \Psi_{\varepsilon,\eta}), \ \mathbf{W}_{\varepsilon,\eta} = \boldsymbol{\omega}$$

as test functions  $[r, \mathbf{U}, \mathbf{W}]$  in the relative energy inequality (5.9), with  $(\mathbf{v}, \boldsymbol{\omega})$  strong solution of the system (1.16) - (1.18).

#### 5.2.1 Initial data

For the initial data, similar to the analysis developed in [4] and [5], we have

$$\mathcal{E}_{\varepsilon,\eta}\left(\varrho_{\varepsilon},\mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon},\boldsymbol{\omega}_{\varepsilon}|r_{\varepsilon,\eta},\mathbf{U}_{\varepsilon,\eta},\mathbf{W}_{\varepsilon,\eta}\right)\left(0,x\right) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \frac{1}{2}\varrho_{0,\varepsilon}\left|\mathbf{u}_{0,\varepsilon}-\mathbf{u}_{0}\right|^{2}dx + \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \frac{1}{2}\varrho_{0,\varepsilon}\left|\boldsymbol{\omega}_{0,\varepsilon}-\boldsymbol{\omega}_{0}\right|^{2}dx + \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \frac{1}{2}\left[H\left(1+\varepsilon\varrho_{0,\varepsilon}^{(1)}\right)-\varepsilon H'\left(1+\varepsilon\varrho_{0}^{(1)}\right)\left(\varrho_{0,\varepsilon}^{(1)}-\varrho_{0}^{(1)}\right)-H\left(1+\varepsilon\varrho_{0}^{(1)}\right)\right]dx.$$
(5.10)

For the first term on the right hand side of the equality (5.10), we have

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \frac{1}{2} \varrho_{0,\varepsilon} |\mathbf{u}_{0,\varepsilon} - \mathbf{u}_{0}|^{2} dx = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \frac{1}{2} \left| 1 + \varepsilon \varrho_{0,\varepsilon}^{(1)} \right| |\mathbf{u}_{0,\varepsilon} - \mathbf{u}_{0}|^{2} dx$$

$$\leq \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \frac{1}{2} |\mathbf{u}_{0,\varepsilon} - \mathbf{u}_{0}|^{2} dx + \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \frac{1}{2} \left| \varepsilon \varrho_{0,\varepsilon}^{(1)} \right| |\mathbf{u}_{0,\varepsilon} - \mathbf{u}_{0}|^{2} dx$$

$$\leq \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \frac{1}{2} |\mathbf{u}_{0,\varepsilon} - \mathbf{u}_{0}|^{2} dx + \varepsilon \left\| \varrho_{0,\varepsilon}^{(1)} \right\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{3})} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \frac{1}{2} |\mathbf{u}_{0,\varepsilon} - \mathbf{u}_{0}|^{2} dx$$

$$\leq c (1 + \varepsilon) \left\| |\mathbf{u}_{0,\varepsilon} - \mathbf{u}_{0}|^{2} \right\|_{L^{1}(\mathbb{R}^{3};\mathbb{R}^{3})}.$$
(5.11)

Similar analysis can be done for the second term on the right hand side of (5.10). For the third term on the right hand side of (5.10), setting  $a = 1 + \varepsilon \varrho_{0,\varepsilon}^{(1)}$  and  $b = 1 + \varepsilon \varrho_{0}^{(1)}$  and observing that

$$H(a) = H(b) + H'(b)(a - b) + \frac{1}{2}H''(\xi)(a - b)^{2}, \quad \xi \in (a, b),$$
$$\left| H(a) - H'(b)(a - b) - H(b) \right| \le c |a - b|^{2},$$

we have

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \frac{1}{\varepsilon^{2}} \left[ H \left( 1 + \varepsilon \varrho_{0,\varepsilon}^{(1)} \right) - \varepsilon H' \left( 1 + \varepsilon \varrho_{0}^{(1)} \right) \left( \varrho_{0,\varepsilon}^{(1)} - \varrho_{0}^{(1)} \right) \right] dx$$

$$\leq c \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \frac{1}{\varepsilon^{2}} \left( \left| \varepsilon \left( \varrho_{0,\varepsilon}^{(1)} - \varrho_{0}^{(1)} \right) \right|^{2} \right) dx$$

$$\leq c \left\| \left| \left| \varrho_{0,\varepsilon}^{(1)} - \varrho_{0}^{(1)} \right|^{2} \right\|_{L^{1}(\mathbb{R}^{3})}.$$
(5.12)

We can conclude

$$\mathcal{E}_{\varepsilon,n}\left(\varrho_{\varepsilon},\mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon},\boldsymbol{\omega}_{\varepsilon}|r_{\varepsilon,n},\mathbf{U}_{\varepsilon,n},\mathbf{W}_{\varepsilon,n}\right)\left(0,x\right)$$

$$\leq c\left(1+\varepsilon\right)\left(\left\|\left|\mathbf{u}_{0,\varepsilon}-\mathbf{u}_{0}\right|^{2}\right\|_{L^{1}(\mathbb{R}^{3};\mathbb{R}^{3})}+\left\|\left|\boldsymbol{\omega}_{0,\varepsilon}-\boldsymbol{\omega}_{0}\right|^{2}\right\|_{L^{1}(\mathbb{R}^{3};\mathbb{R}^{3})}\right)+c\left\|\left|\varrho_{0,\varepsilon}^{(1)}-\varrho_{0}^{(1)}\right|^{2}\right\|_{L^{1}(\mathbb{R}^{3})}.$$

$$(5.13)$$

#### 5.2.2 The dissipative terms

We have

$$\nu \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} (\mu + \xi) \nabla \mathbf{U}_{\varepsilon, \eta} : (\nabla \mathbf{U}_{\varepsilon, \eta} - \nabla \mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon}) dx dt$$

$$\leq \frac{\nu}{2} \int_{0}^{\tau} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} (\mu + \xi) (\nabla \mathbf{U}_{\varepsilon, \eta} - \nabla \mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon}) : (\nabla \mathbf{U}_{\varepsilon, \eta} - \nabla \mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon}) dx dt + \frac{\nu}{2} \int_{0}^{\tau} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} (\mu + \xi) |\nabla \mathbf{U}_{\varepsilon, \eta}|^{2} dx dt,$$

where we used the Young inequality. The first term can be absorbed by its counterpart on the left side of (5.9) and the second term is estimated by  $c(\eta, \mu, \xi, T)\nu$ , which goes to zero as  $\nu \to 0$ . Similarly, is possible to treat the other viscous term and the micro-polar viscous terms.

Moreover, thanks to the uniform bounds and the regularity of  $\omega$  and  $\mathbf{U}_{\varepsilon,\eta}$ , the term

$$\nu \int_0^T \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \left( 4\xi \boldsymbol{\omega} \cdot (\boldsymbol{\omega}_{\varepsilon} - \boldsymbol{\omega}) - 2\xi (\nabla \times \boldsymbol{\omega}) \cdot (\mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon} - \mathbf{U}_{\varepsilon,\eta}) - 2\xi (\nabla \times \mathbf{U}_{\varepsilon,\eta}) \cdot (\boldsymbol{\omega}_{\varepsilon} - \boldsymbol{\omega}) \right) dx dt$$

goes to zero as  $\nu \to 0$ .

# 5.2.3 The micro-polar convective term

We have

$$\int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \varrho_{\varepsilon} \left( \partial_{t} \boldsymbol{\omega} + \mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon} \cdot \nabla \boldsymbol{\omega} \right) \cdot \left( \boldsymbol{\omega} - \boldsymbol{\omega}_{\varepsilon} \right) dx dt$$

$$= \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \varrho_{\varepsilon} \partial_{t} \boldsymbol{\omega} \cdot (\boldsymbol{\omega} - \boldsymbol{\omega}_{\varepsilon}) dx dt + \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \varrho_{\varepsilon} \mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon} \cdot \nabla \boldsymbol{\omega} \cdot (\boldsymbol{\omega} - \boldsymbol{\omega}_{\varepsilon}) dx dt$$

Using (1.18), we have

$$\int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \partial_{t} \boldsymbol{\omega} \cdot \varrho_{\varepsilon}(\boldsymbol{\omega} - \boldsymbol{\omega}_{\varepsilon}) dx dt = -\int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \mathbf{v} \cdot \nabla \boldsymbol{\omega} \cdot \varrho_{\varepsilon}(\boldsymbol{\omega} - \boldsymbol{\omega}_{\varepsilon}) dx dt$$

$$= -\int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \varrho_{\varepsilon} \mathbf{U}_{\varepsilon, \eta} \cdot \nabla \boldsymbol{\omega} \cdot (\boldsymbol{\omega} - \boldsymbol{\omega}_{\varepsilon}) dx dt + \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \varrho_{\varepsilon} \nabla \Psi_{\varepsilon, \eta} \cdot \nabla \boldsymbol{\omega} \cdot (\boldsymbol{\omega} - \boldsymbol{\omega}_{\varepsilon}) dx dt.$$

Consequently, after some algebra, we have

$$\int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \varrho_{\varepsilon} \left( \partial_{t} \boldsymbol{\omega} + \mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon} \cdot \nabla \boldsymbol{\omega} \right) \cdot \left( \boldsymbol{\omega} - \boldsymbol{\omega}_{\varepsilon} \right) dx dt$$

$$= \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \varrho_{\varepsilon} (\mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon} - \mathbf{U}_{\varepsilon,\eta}) \cdot \nabla \boldsymbol{\omega} \cdot (\boldsymbol{\omega} - \boldsymbol{\omega}_{\varepsilon}) dx dt + \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \varrho_{\varepsilon} \nabla \Psi_{\varepsilon,\eta} \cdot \nabla \boldsymbol{\omega} \cdot (\boldsymbol{\omega} - \boldsymbol{\omega}_{\varepsilon}) dx dt.$$

We can estimate the first term as follows

$$\int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \varrho_{\varepsilon}(\mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon} - \mathbf{U}_{\varepsilon,\eta}) \cdot \nabla \boldsymbol{\omega} \cdot (\boldsymbol{\omega} - \boldsymbol{\omega}_{\varepsilon}) dx dt$$

$$\leq c(\eta, T) \left( \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \varrho_{\varepsilon} |\mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon} - \mathbf{U}_{\varepsilon,\eta}|^{2} dx dt + \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \varrho_{\varepsilon} |\boldsymbol{\omega} - \boldsymbol{\omega}_{\varepsilon}|^{2} dx dt \right)$$

$$\leq c(\eta, T) \int_{0}^{T} \mathcal{E}(t, \cdot) dx, \tag{5.14}$$

where we used the Young inequality and the regularity of  $\omega$ . While, for the acoustic contribution we have

$$\int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \varrho_{\varepsilon} \nabla \Psi_{\varepsilon,\eta} \cdot \nabla \omega \cdot (\omega - \omega_{\varepsilon}) dx dt$$

$$= \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \varrho_{\varepsilon} \nabla \Psi_{\varepsilon,\eta} \cdot \nabla \omega \cdot \omega dx dt - \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \varrho_{\varepsilon} \omega_{\varepsilon} \cdot \nabla \Psi_{\varepsilon,\eta} \cdot \nabla \omega dx dt.$$

$$= \varepsilon \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \frac{\varrho_{\varepsilon} - 1}{\varepsilon} \nabla \Psi_{\varepsilon,\eta} \cdot \nabla \omega \cdot \omega dx dt + \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \nabla \Psi_{\varepsilon,\eta} \cdot \nabla \omega \cdot \omega dx dt$$

$$- \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \varrho_{\varepsilon} \omega_{\varepsilon} \cdot \nabla \Psi_{\varepsilon,\eta} \cdot \nabla \omega dx dt.$$

According to (2.6) - (2.7), the first term can be estimated as follows

$$c(T) \left\| \frac{\varrho_{\varepsilon} - 1}{\varepsilon} \right\|_{L_{T}^{\infty}(L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{3}) + L^{\gamma}(\mathbb{R}^{3}))} \left\| \nabla \omega \right\|_{L_{T}^{\infty}(L^{8}(\mathbb{R}^{3}) + L^{\frac{8\gamma}{3\gamma - 4}}(\mathbb{R}^{3}))}$$

$$\cdot \left\| \omega \right\|_{L_{T}^{\infty}(L^{8}(\mathbb{R}^{3}) + L^{\frac{8\gamma}{3\gamma - 4}}(\mathbb{R}^{3}))} \left\| \nabla \Psi_{\varepsilon, \eta} \right\|_{L_{T}^{4}(L^{4}(\mathbb{R}^{3}) + L^{4}(\mathbb{R}^{3}))}$$

$$\leq c(\eta, T) \varepsilon^{\frac{1}{4}}, \qquad (5.15)$$

as well as the second term,

$$c(\eta, T)\varepsilon^{\frac{1}{4}},\tag{5.16}$$

thanks to the dispersive estimates and the regularity of  $\omega$ . Finally, for the last term we have the following estimate

$$c(\eta, T) \|\varrho_{\varepsilon} \boldsymbol{\omega}_{\varepsilon}\|_{L_{T}^{\infty}(L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{3}) + L^{\frac{2\gamma}{\gamma+1}}(\mathbb{R}^{3}))} \|\nabla \boldsymbol{\omega}\|_{L_{T}^{\infty}(L^{4}(\mathbb{R}^{3}) + L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{3}))}$$

$$\cdot \|\nabla \Psi_{\varepsilon, \eta}\|_{L_{T}^{4}(L^{4}(\mathbb{R}^{3})) + L_{T}^{2\gamma}(L^{\frac{2\gamma}{\gamma-1}}(\mathbb{R}^{3}))}$$

$$\leq c(\eta, T) \varepsilon^{\min\{\frac{1}{4}, \frac{1}{2\gamma}\}}. \tag{5.17}$$

In conclusion, the convective term related to the momentum equation and the pressure terms are treated as in [4] and [5] (see the Appendix).

#### 5.3 Proof of Theorem 10

From the above estimates, (A.12), (A.18) and the conservation of the acoustic energy (3.4), we obtain

$$\mathcal{E}_{\varepsilon,\eta}\left(\varrho,\mathbf{u},\boldsymbol{\omega}\mid r,\mathbf{U},W\right)(\tau,x)\leq c(\eta,T)\varepsilon^{\alpha}+\int_{0}^{T}c(t)\mathcal{E}_{\varepsilon,\eta}(t)dt,\ \alpha=\min\{\frac{1}{4},\frac{1}{2\gamma}\}.$$

By Gronwall's inequality, we have

$$\mathcal{E}_{\varepsilon,\eta}\left(\varrho,\mathbf{u},\boldsymbol{\omega}\mid r,\mathbf{U},W\right)(\tau,x) \leq c(\eta,T)\varepsilon^{\alpha} + c(T)\mathcal{E}_{\varepsilon,\eta}(0,x), \quad \text{a.e. } \tau \in (0,T).$$
(5.18)

The convergence rate (1.40) given in Corollary 12 comes from (5.13) together with (5.18). Now, sending  $\varepsilon \to 0$ , according to the assumptions (1.36), we find

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \mathcal{E}\left(\varrho_{\varepsilon}, \mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon}, \boldsymbol{\omega}_{\varepsilon} \mid r_{\varepsilon, \eta}, \mathbf{U}_{\varepsilon, \eta}, W_{\varepsilon, \eta}\right)(\tau, x) = 0 \text{ uniformly in } \tau \in (0, T),$$

where  $r_{\varepsilon,\eta} = 1 + \psi_{\varepsilon,\eta}$ ,  $\mathbf{U}_{\varepsilon,\eta} = \mathbf{v} + \nabla \Psi_{\varepsilon,\eta}$ ,  $W_{\varepsilon,\eta} = \boldsymbol{\omega}$ . We thus conclude the proof of Theorem 10. Indeed,  $\nabla \Psi_{\varepsilon,\eta} \to 0$  in  $L^q(0,T;L^p(\mathbb{R}^3))$  as  $\varepsilon \to 0$  for any (p,q) > 2 according to (3.8). Consequently, for any compact set  $K \subset \mathbb{R}^3$ , we have

$$\|\sqrt{\varrho_{\varepsilon}}\mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon} - \mathbf{v}\|_{L_{T}^{2}(L^{2}(K))} \leq \|\sqrt{\varrho_{\varepsilon}}\mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon} - \mathbf{U}_{\varepsilon,\eta}\|_{L_{T}^{2}(L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{3}))} + c(T,K) \|\nabla\Psi_{\varepsilon,\eta}\|_{L_{T}^{q}(L^{p}(K))},$$

which goes to zero as  $\varepsilon \to 0$ .

# A Appendix

For the reader's convenience, we recall the analysis from [4] and [5] providing the estimates on the convective and pressure terms.

#### A.1 The convective terms

We decompose

$$\int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \varrho_{\varepsilon} \left( \partial_{t} \mathbf{U}_{\varepsilon,\eta} + \mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon} \cdot \nabla \mathbf{U}_{\varepsilon,\eta} \right) \cdot \left( \mathbf{U}_{\varepsilon,\eta} - \mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon} \right) dx dt$$

$$= \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \varrho_{\varepsilon} \left( \partial_{t} \mathbf{U}_{\varepsilon,\eta} + \mathbf{U}_{\varepsilon,\eta} \cdot \nabla \mathbf{U}_{\varepsilon,\eta} \right) \cdot \left( \mathbf{U}_{\varepsilon,\eta} - \mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon} \right) dx dt$$

$$-\int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \varrho_{\varepsilon} \left( \mathbf{U}_{\varepsilon,\eta} - \mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon} \right) \cdot \nabla \mathbf{U}_{\varepsilon,\eta} \cdot \left( \mathbf{U}_{\varepsilon,\eta} - \mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon} \right) dx dt. \tag{A.1}$$

The last term is estimated as follows

$$\int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \varrho_{\varepsilon} \left( \mathbf{U}_{\varepsilon,\eta} - \mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon} \right) \cdot \nabla \mathbf{U}_{\varepsilon,\eta} \cdot \left( \mathbf{U}_{\varepsilon,\eta} - \mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon} \right) dx dt \le \int_{0}^{T} c(t) \mathcal{E}(t,\cdot) dt. \quad (A.2)$$

For the first term on the right side of (A.1), we have

$$\int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \varrho_{\varepsilon} \left( \partial_{t} \mathbf{U}_{\varepsilon,\eta} + \mathbf{U}_{\varepsilon,\eta} \cdot \nabla \mathbf{U}_{\varepsilon,\eta} \right) \cdot \left( \mathbf{U}_{\varepsilon,\eta} - \mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon} \right) dx dt$$

$$= \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \varrho_{\varepsilon} \left( \partial_{t} \mathbf{v} + \mathbf{v} \cdot \nabla \mathbf{v} \right) \cdot \left( \mathbf{U}_{\varepsilon,\eta} - \mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon} \right) dx dt + \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \varrho_{\varepsilon} \partial_{t} \nabla \Psi_{\varepsilon,\eta} \cdot \left( \mathbf{U}_{\varepsilon,\eta} - \mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon} \right) dx dt$$

$$+ \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \varrho_{\varepsilon} \nabla \Psi_{\varepsilon,\eta} \cdot \nabla \nabla \Psi_{\varepsilon,\eta} \cdot \left( \mathbf{U}_{\varepsilon,\eta} - \mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon} \right) dx dt$$

$$+ \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \varrho_{\varepsilon} \left( \mathbf{v} \cdot \nabla (\nabla \Psi_{\varepsilon,\eta}) + \nabla \Psi_{\varepsilon,\eta} \cdot \nabla \mathbf{v} \right) \cdot \left( \mathbf{U}_{\varepsilon,\eta} - \mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon} \right) dx dt. \tag{A.3}$$

Next.

$$\int_0^T \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \varrho_{\varepsilon} \left( \partial_t \mathbf{v} + \mathbf{v} \cdot \nabla \mathbf{v} \right) \cdot \left( \mathbf{U}_{\varepsilon, \eta} - \mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon} \right) dx dt = I_1 + I_2.$$

We have

$$I_{1} = \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \varrho_{\varepsilon} \mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon} \cdot \nabla \Pi dx dt$$

$$= \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \varrho_{\varepsilon} \Pi dx \Big|_{t=0}^{T} - \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \varrho_{\varepsilon} \partial_{t} \Pi dx dt$$

$$= \varepsilon \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \frac{\varrho_{\varepsilon} - 1}{\varepsilon} \Pi dx \Big|_{t=0}^{T} - \varepsilon \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \frac{\varrho_{\varepsilon} - 1}{\varepsilon} \partial_{t} \Pi dx dt \leq c(\eta, T)\varepsilon \qquad (A.4)$$

according to (2.6) - (2.7), and

$$|I_{2}| = \left| \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \varrho_{\varepsilon} \mathbf{U}_{\varepsilon, \eta} \cdot \nabla \Pi dx dt \right| \leq \left| \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} (\varrho_{\varepsilon} - 1) \cdot \mathbf{U}_{\varepsilon, \eta} \cdot \nabla \Pi dx dt \right| + \left| \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \mathbf{U}_{\varepsilon, \eta} \cdot \nabla \Pi dx dt \right|. \tag{A.5}$$

For the first term on the right hand side of (A.5), we have

$$\left| \int_0^T \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \left( \varrho_{\varepsilon} - 1 \right) \cdot \mathbf{U}_{\varepsilon, \eta} \cdot \nabla \Pi dx dt \right| \leq \varepsilon \left| \int_0^T \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \frac{\left( \varrho_{\varepsilon} - 1 \right)}{\varepsilon} \cdot \mathbf{U}_{\varepsilon, \eta} \cdot \nabla \Pi dx dt \right|$$

$$\leq c(T)\varepsilon$$
,

according to (2.6) - (2.7) and the energy estimate (3.5). For the second term on the right hand side of (A.5), we have

$$\int_0^T \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \mathbf{U}_{\varepsilon,\eta} \cdot \nabla \Pi dx dt = \int_0^T \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \mathbf{v} \cdot \nabla \Pi dx dt + \int_0^T \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \nabla \Psi_{\varepsilon,\eta} \cdot \nabla \Pi dx dt. \quad (A.6)$$

Performing integration by parts in the first term on the right-hand side of (A.6), we have

$$\int_0^T \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \operatorname{div} \mathbf{v} \cdot \Pi dx dt = 0,$$

thanks to the incompressibility condition  $\operatorname{div} \mathbf{v} = 0$ . For the second term on the right-hand side of (A.6), using integration by parts and acoustic equation, we have

$$\int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \nabla \Psi_{\varepsilon,\eta} \cdot \nabla \Pi dx dt = -\int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \Delta \Psi_{\varepsilon,\eta} \cdot \Pi dx dt$$

$$= \varepsilon \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \partial_{t} \psi_{\varepsilon,\eta} \cdot \Pi dx dt$$

$$= \varepsilon \left[ \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \psi_{\varepsilon,\eta} \cdot \Pi dx \right]_{t=0}^{t=T} - \varepsilon \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \psi_{\varepsilon,\eta} \cdot \partial_{t} \Pi dx dt, \tag{A.7}$$

that goes to zero for  $\varepsilon \to 0$ . Moreover, by using similar argument as above, the last two terms in (A.3) are of order

$$c(\eta, T)(1+\varepsilon) \|\nabla \Psi_{\varepsilon,\eta}\|_{L^{4}_{T}(W^{1,4}(\mathbb{R}^{3}:\mathbb{R}^{3}))} \le c(\eta, T)\varepsilon^{\frac{1}{4}}. \tag{A.8}$$

Now, using  $div \mathbf{v} = 0$ , we have

$$\int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \varrho_{\varepsilon} \partial_{t} \nabla \Psi_{\varepsilon,\eta} \cdot (\mathbf{U}_{\varepsilon,\eta} - \mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon}) \, dx dt = -\int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \varrho_{\varepsilon} \mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon} \cdot \partial_{t} \nabla \Psi_{\varepsilon,\eta} dx dt$$
$$+ \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} (\varrho_{\varepsilon} - 1) \mathbf{v} \cdot \partial_{t} \nabla \Psi_{\varepsilon,\eta} dx dt + \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \varrho_{\varepsilon} \partial_{t} \nabla \Psi_{\varepsilon,\eta} \cdot \nabla \Psi_{\varepsilon,\eta} dx dt \quad (A.9)$$

The first term on the right side of (A.9) will be cancelled later by the pressure term while, by using the acoustic wave equations (3.1), the second term equals to

$$\int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \frac{\varrho_{\varepsilon} - 1}{\varepsilon} \varepsilon \partial_{t} \nabla \Psi_{\varepsilon, \eta} \cdot \mathbf{v} dx dt = -\int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \frac{\varrho_{\varepsilon} - 1}{\varepsilon} a^{2} \nabla \psi_{\varepsilon, \eta} \cdot \mathbf{v} dx dt$$

$$\leq c(T) \left\| \frac{\varrho_{\varepsilon} - 1}{\varepsilon} \right\|_{L_{T}^{\infty}(L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{3}) + L^{\gamma}(\mathbb{R}^{3}))} \|\mathbf{v}\|_{L_{T}^{\infty}(L^{4}(\mathbb{R}^{3};\mathbb{R}^{3}) + L^{\frac{4\gamma}{3\gamma - 4}}(\mathbb{R}^{3};\mathbb{R}^{3}))} \|\nabla \psi_{\varepsilon,\eta}\|_{L_{T}^{4}(L^{4}(\mathbb{R}^{3}) + L^{4}(\mathbb{R}^{3}))} \\
\leq c(\eta, T) \varepsilon^{\frac{1}{4}}, \tag{A.10}$$

according to (2.6) - (2.7). Finally, by using again the acoustic equations  $\varepsilon \partial_t \nabla \Psi_{\varepsilon,\eta} = -a^2 \nabla \psi_{\varepsilon,\eta}$ ,

$$\int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \varrho_{\varepsilon} \partial_{t} \nabla \Psi_{\varepsilon,\eta} \cdot \nabla \Psi_{\varepsilon,\eta} dx dt$$

$$= -a^{2} \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \frac{\varrho_{\varepsilon} - 1}{\varepsilon} \nabla \psi_{\varepsilon,\eta} \cdot \nabla \Psi_{\varepsilon,\eta} dx dt + \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} |\nabla \Psi_{\varepsilon,\eta}|^{2} dx \Big|_{t=0}^{T}$$

$$\leq c(\eta, T) \varepsilon^{\frac{1}{4}} + \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} |\nabla \Psi_{\varepsilon,\eta}|^{2} dx \Big|_{t=0}^{T} .$$
(A.11)

From (A.1) to (A.11) we conclude that

$$\int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \varrho_{\varepsilon} \left( \partial_{t} \mathbf{U}_{\varepsilon,\eta} + \mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon} \cdot \nabla \mathbf{U}_{\varepsilon,\eta} \right) \cdot \left( \mathbf{U}_{\varepsilon,\eta} - \mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon} \right) dx dt \leq c(\eta, T) \varepsilon^{\frac{1}{4}} + \int_{0}^{T} c(t) \mathcal{E}(t, \cdot) dt 
+ \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} |\nabla \Psi_{\varepsilon,\eta}|^{2} dx \Big|_{t=0}^{T} - \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \varrho_{\varepsilon} \mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon} \cdot \partial_{t} \nabla \Psi_{\varepsilon,\eta} dx dt. \tag{A.12}$$

#### A.2 The pressure terms

We recall

$$\frac{1}{\varepsilon^{2}} \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} (r - \varrho_{\varepsilon}) \, \partial_{t} H'(r) + \nabla H'(r) \cdot (r \mathbf{U}_{\varepsilon, \eta} - \varrho_{\varepsilon} \mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon}) dx dt$$
$$- \frac{1}{\varepsilon^{2}} \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} (p (\varrho_{\varepsilon}) - p (r)) \operatorname{div} \mathbf{U}_{\varepsilon, \eta} dx dt$$

where  $r = r_{\varepsilon,\eta} = 1 + \varepsilon \psi_{\varepsilon,\eta}$ . We have,

$$\int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \nabla H'(r) \cdot r \mathbf{U}_{\varepsilon,\eta} dx dt = -\int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} p(r) \operatorname{div} \mathbf{U}_{\varepsilon,\eta} dx dt$$

that cancels with its counterpart. Next,

$$\frac{1}{\varepsilon^2} \int_0^T \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \varrho_{\varepsilon} \mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon} \cdot \nabla H'(r) \, dx = \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \int_0^T \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \varrho_{\varepsilon} \mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon} \cdot \nabla \psi_{\varepsilon,\eta} H''(r) dx dt$$

$$= \int_0^T \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \varrho_{\varepsilon} \mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon} \cdot \nabla \psi_{\varepsilon,\eta} \frac{H''(1 + \varepsilon \psi_{\varepsilon,\eta}) - H''(1)}{\varepsilon} dx dt + \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \int_0^T \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} a^2 \varrho_{\varepsilon} \mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon} \cdot \nabla \psi_{\varepsilon,\eta} dx dt$$

where  $H''(1) = p'(1) = a^2$ . Observing that

$$\left| \frac{H''(1 + \varepsilon \psi_{\varepsilon, \eta}) - H''(1)}{\varepsilon} \right| \le c |\psi_{\varepsilon, \eta}|,$$

the first term on the right side can be estimated in the following way

$$c(\eta, T) \|\varrho_{\varepsilon} \mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon}\|_{L_{T}^{\infty}(L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{3}; \mathbb{R}^{3}) + L^{\frac{2\gamma}{\gamma+1}}(\mathbb{R}^{3}; \mathbb{R}^{3}))} \|\psi\|_{L_{T}^{\infty}(L^{4}(\mathbb{R}^{3}) + L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{3}))} \|\nabla\psi\|_{L_{T}^{4}(L^{4}(\mathbb{R}^{3})) + L_{T}^{2\gamma}(L^{\frac{2\gamma}{\gamma-1}}(\mathbb{R}^{3}))}$$

$$\leq c(\eta, T) \varepsilon^{\min\{\frac{1}{4}, \frac{1}{2\gamma}\}} \tag{A.13}$$

For the second term, by using the acoustic equations,

$$\frac{1}{\varepsilon} \int_0^T \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} a^2 \varrho_{\varepsilon} \mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon} \cdot \nabla \psi_{\varepsilon, \eta} dx dt = -\int_0^\tau \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \varrho_{\varepsilon} \mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon} \cdot \partial_t \Psi_{\varepsilon, \eta} dx dt,$$

which cancels with its counterpart on the right side of (A.12) (or (A.9)). Now, we have

$$\frac{1}{\varepsilon^{2}} \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} (r - \varrho_{\varepsilon}) \, \partial_{t} H'(r) - p(\varrho_{\varepsilon}) \, \mathrm{div} \mathbf{U}_{\varepsilon,\eta} dx dt$$

$$= \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \frac{1 - \varrho_{\varepsilon}}{\varepsilon} H''(r) \partial_{t} \psi_{\varepsilon,\eta} dx dt + \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \psi_{\varepsilon,\eta} H''(r) \partial_{t} \psi_{\varepsilon,\eta} dx_{h} dt$$

$$- \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \frac{p(\varrho_{\varepsilon}) - p'(1)(\varrho_{\varepsilon} - 1) - p(1)}{\varepsilon^{2}} \Delta \Psi_{\varepsilon,\eta} dx dt$$

$$- \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} p'(1) \frac{\varrho_{\varepsilon} - 1}{\varepsilon^{2}} \Delta \Psi_{\varepsilon,\eta} dx dt. \tag{A.14}$$

Then, the following estimate holds

$$\int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \frac{p(\varrho_{\varepsilon}) - p'(1)(\varrho_{\varepsilon} - 1) - p(1)}{\varepsilon^{2}} \Delta \Psi_{\varepsilon,\eta} dx dt \le c(\eta, T) \varepsilon^{\frac{1}{4}}.$$
 (A.15)

Now, we write

$$\int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \frac{1 - \varrho_{\varepsilon}}{\varepsilon} H''(r) \partial_{t} \psi_{\varepsilon,\eta} dx dt = \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \frac{1 - \varrho_{\varepsilon}}{\varepsilon} H''(1) \partial_{t} \psi_{\varepsilon,\eta} dx dt + \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \frac{1 - \varrho_{\varepsilon}}{\varepsilon} \left( H''(r) - H''(1) \right) \partial_{t} \psi_{\varepsilon,\eta} dx dt.$$

Using the acoustic equation, the first term on the right side cancels with the last term in (A.14) while the remaining term equals to

$$-\int_0^T \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \frac{1-\varrho_{\varepsilon}}{\varepsilon} \frac{H''(r) - H''(1)}{\varepsilon} \Delta \Psi_{\varepsilon,\eta} dx dt$$

and can be estimated as follows

$$c(T) \left\| \frac{\varrho_{\varepsilon} - 1}{\varepsilon} \right\|_{L_{T}^{\infty}(L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{3}) + L^{\gamma}(\mathbb{R}^{3}))} \left\| \psi_{\varepsilon, \eta} \right\|_{L_{T}^{\infty}(L^{4}(\mathbb{R}^{3}) + L^{\frac{4\gamma}{3\gamma - 4}}(\mathbb{R}^{3}))} \left\| \Delta \Psi_{\varepsilon, \eta} \right\|_{L_{T}^{4}(L^{4}(\mathbb{R}^{3}; \mathbb{R}^{3}) + L^{4}(\mathbb{R}^{3}; \mathbb{R}^{3}))}$$

$$\leq c(\eta, T) \varepsilon^{\frac{1}{4}}. \tag{A.16}$$

Similarly,

$$\int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \psi_{\varepsilon,\eta} H''(r) \partial_{t} \psi_{\varepsilon,\eta} dx dt = \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \psi_{\varepsilon,\eta} H''(1) \partial_{t} \psi_{\varepsilon,\eta} dx dt 
+ \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \psi_{\varepsilon,\eta} \left( H''(r) - H''(1) \right) \partial_{t} \psi_{\varepsilon,\eta} dx dt 
\leq \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} a^{2} \left| \psi_{\varepsilon,\eta} \right|^{2} dx \left|_{t=0}^{T} + c(T) \left\| \psi_{\varepsilon,\eta} \right\|_{L_{T}^{\infty}(L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{3}))} \left\| \psi_{\varepsilon,\eta} \right\|_{L_{T}^{\infty}(L^{4}(\mathbb{R}^{3}))} \left\| \Delta \Psi_{\varepsilon,\eta} \right\|_{L_{T}^{4}(L^{4}(\mathbb{R}^{3};\mathbb{R}^{3}))} 
\leq \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} a^{2} \left| \psi_{\varepsilon,\eta} \right|^{2} dx \left|_{t=0}^{T} + c(\eta,T) \varepsilon^{\frac{1}{4}}.$$
(A.17)

From (A.13) to (A.17) we conclude that

$$\frac{1}{\varepsilon^{2}} \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} (\varrho_{\varepsilon} - r) \, \partial_{t} H'(r) - p(\varrho_{\varepsilon}) \operatorname{div} \mathbf{U}_{\varepsilon, \eta} - \varrho_{\varepsilon} \mathbf{u}_{\varepsilon} \cdot \nabla H'(r) \, dx dt$$

$$\leq \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} a^{2} |\psi_{\varepsilon, \eta}|^{2} \, dx \, \Big|_{t=0}^{T} + c(\eta, T) \varepsilon^{\alpha}, \, \alpha = \min\{\frac{1}{4}, \frac{1}{2\gamma}\}. \tag{A.18}$$

#### Acknowledgements

M. C. has been fully supported by the Croatian Science Foundation under the project MultiFM IP-2019-04-1140. The author would like to thank professor Igor Pažanin and professor Boris Muha from the Department of Mathematics, Faculty of Science, University of Zagreb for the fruitful discussions about the topic.

# References

- [1] Amirat Y., Hamdache K., Weak solutions to the equations of motion for compressible magnetic fluids, *J. Math. Pures Appl.*, **91**, 433–466, 2015.
- [2] Bardos C., Nguyen T. T., Remarks on the inviscid limit for the compressible flows. Contemporary Mathematics. Recent Advances in Partial Differential Equations and Applications (V. D. Radulescu, A. Sequeira, V. A. Solonnikov, eds.), American Mathematical Society, Providence, 2016.
- [3] Bayada G., Benhaboucha N., Chambat M., Wall slip induced by a micropolar fluid, *J. Eng. Math.*, **60**, 89–100, 2008.
- [4] Caggio M., Donatelli D., Nečasová Š., Sun Y., Low Mach number limit on thin domains, *Nonlinearity*, **33**, 840–863, 2020.
- [5] Caggio M., Nečasová Š., Inviscid incompressible limit for rotating fluids, Nonlinear Analysis, **163**, 1–18, 2017.
- [6] Chen M. T., Huang B., Zhang J. W., Blow up criterion for the threedimensional equations of compressible viscous micropolar fluids with vacuum, *Nonlinear Anal.*, 79, 1–11, 2013.
- [7] Chen Q. L., Miao C. X., Global well-posedness for the micropolar fluid system in critical Besov spaces, *J. Differ. Equ.*, **252**, 2698–2724, 2012.
- [8] Chen M. T., Xu X. Y., Zhang J. W., Global weak solutions of 3D compressible micropolar fluids with discontinuous initial data and vacuum, *Commun. Math. Sci.*, 13, 225–247, 2015.
- [9] Dafermos C. M., The second law of thermodynamics and stability, *Arch. Rational Mech. Anal.*, **70**, 167–179, 1979.
- [10] Desjardins B., Grenier E., Low Mach number limit of viscous compressible flows in the whole space, *Proc. R. Soc. Lond.* **455**, 2271–2279, 1999.
- [11] Dražić, I., 3-D flow of a compressible viscous micropolar fluid model with spherical symmetry: a brief survey and recent progress, *Rev. Math. Phys.*, **30**, 1830001, 2018.
- [12] Dražić, I., Mujaković, N., 3-D flow of a compressible viscous micropolar fluid with spherical symmetry: large time behavior of the solution, J. Math. Anal. Appl., 431, 545–568, 2015.

- [13] Duan R., Global strong solution for initial-boundary value problem of one-dimensional compressible micropolar fluids with density dependent viscosity and temperature dependent heat conductivity, *Nonlinear Anal. Real World Appl.*, **42**, 71–92, 2018.
- [14] Eringen A. C., Theory of micropolar fluids, J. Math. Mech., 16, 1–18, 1966.
- [15] Falkovich G., Fluid Mechanics, A Short Course for Physicists, Cambridge University Press, 2011.
- [16] Feireisl E., Novotný A., Singular Limits in Thermodynamics of Viscous Fluids, Birkhäuser, Basel, 2009.
- [17] Feireisl E., Gallagher I., Novotný A., A singular limit for compressible rotating fluid, SIAM J. Math. Anal. 40(1), 192–205, 2012.
- [18] Feireisl E., Jin B. J., Novotný A., Relative Entropies, Suitable Weak Solutions and Weak-Strong Uniqueness for the Compressible Navier-Stokes System, Journal of Mathematical Fluid Mechanics, 14, 717–730, 2012.
- [19] Feireisl E., Karper T. G., Pokorný M., Mathematical theory of compressible viscous fluids. Analysis and numerics, Advances in Mathematical Fluid Mechanics. Lecture Notes in Mathematical Fluid Mechanics. Birkhäuser/Springer, Cham, 2016, xii+186 pp.
- [20] Feng Z. F., Zhu C. J., Global classical large solution to compressible viscous micropolar and heat-conducting fluids with vacuum, *Discrete Cont.* Dyn.-A, 39, 3069–3097, 2019.
- [21] Galdi G. P., An Introduction to the Mathematical Theory of the Navier-Stokes Equations, I. Springer, New York, 1994.
- [22] Germain P., Weak-strong uniqueness for the isentropic compressible Navier-Stokes system, J. Math. Fluid. Mech., 13 (1), 137–146, 2011.
- [23] Giga Y., Novotný A., Handbook of Mathematical Analysis in Mechanics of Viscous Fluids, Springer, 2018.
- [24] Huang B., On the Existence of Dissipative Measure-Valued Solutions to the Compressible Micropolar System, J. Math. Fluid Mech., 22:59, 16pp, 2020.

- [25] Huang B., Liu L., Zhang L., Global Dynamics of 3-D Compressible Micropolar Fluids with Vacuum and Large Oscillations, J. Math. Fluid Mech., 23:6, 50pp, 2021.
- [26] Kato T., Nonstationary flows of viscous and ideal fluids in  $\mathbb{R}^3$ , J. Funct. Anal., 9, 296–305, 1972
- [27] Landau L., Lifshitz E., Fluid Mechanics, Pergamon Press, Oxford, 1987.
- [28] Lighthill J., On sound generated aerodynamically I. General theory, *Proc. of the Royal Society of London*, **A 211**, 564–587, 1952.
- [29] Lighthill J., On sound generated aerodynamically II. General theory, *Proc. of the Royal Society of London*, **A 222**, 1–32, 1954.
- [30] Liu Q. Q., Zhang P. X., Optimal time decay of the compressible micropolar fluids, *J. Differ. Equ.*, **260**, 7634–7661, 2016.
- [31] Lukaszewics G., Micropolar fluids: theory and applications, Springer Science+Business Media, LLC, New York, 1999.
- [32] Mujaković, N., One-dimensional flow of a compressible viscous micropolar fluid: regularity of the solution, *Rad. Mat.*, **10**, 181–193, 2001.
- [33] Saint-Raymond L., Hydrodynamic limits: some improvements of the relative entropy method, Ann. I. H. Poincaré-AN, 26, 705–744, 2009.
- [34] Strichartz R. S., A priori estimates for the wave equation and some applications, *J. Functional Analysis*, **5**, 218–235, 1970.
- [35] Su J., Incompressible limit of a compressible micropolar fluid model with general initial data, *Nonlinear Analysis*, **132**, 1–24, 2016.
- [36] Su J., Global existence and low Mach number limit to a 3D compressible micropolar fluids model in a bounded domain, *Discrete and Continuous Dynamical System*, 37(6), 3423–3434, 2017.
- [37] Su J., Low Mach number limit of a compressible micropolar fluid model, Nonlinear Analysis: Real World Applications, 38, 21–34, 2017
- [38] Sueur F., On the Inviscid Limit for the Compressible Navier–Stokes System in an Impermeable Bounded Domain, *J. Math. Fluid. Mech.*, **16**, 163–178, 2014.
- [39] White F. M., Fluid Mechanics, McGraw Hill, 1999.

- [40] Wu Z., Wang W., The pointwise estimates of diffusion wave of the compressible micropolar fluids, *J. Differ. Equ.*, **265**, 2544–2576, 2018.
- [41] Yamaguchi N., Existence of global strong solution to the micropolar fuid system in a bounded domain, *Math. Methods Appl. Sci.*, **28**, 1507–1526, 2005.